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              CEO’S COMMENTS
Move About Group started the year strongly, with 
strong sales growth.  Each quarter has shown that 
our new strategy is working and has resulted in a  
quarter-on-quarter increase in  revenue  over the 
course  of the  year.  The increase comes from or-
ganic growth in both the public, corporate and 
private sectors, all of which show a strong devel-
opment of our KPIs.  The acquisition of Mobileeee 
GmbH in June 2021, which was carried out to  se-
cure a good entry point in Europe, was a success 
where Germany shows strong growth potential.  
All in all, this has increased total revenue and sur-
passes all previous years for the Group.

The decision by the Board of Directors to list the 
Group resulted in a successful IPO and listing on 
Nasdaq First North in Stockholm on 23 February 
2022.  The process and preparation together with 
our advisors was both challenging but rewarding, 
which meant that the Group’s EBIT results in 2021 
were affected by  one-off costs. 

For 2021, Move About Group was focused on 
growth with several new pools planned to be 
launched during the year.  Public pools were 
opened in all our markets during the year. The 
Group has proven its ability to cope with the com-
petition where several tenders have been won 
during the year in all countries. In Germany, mo-
bility bids have been won  , among others, for the 
district of Main-Taunus and others. For Sweden, 
we have won the tenders for the municipalities of 
Sundbyberg, Linköping and Karlskrona. For the 
Norwegian market, we have won tenders for, 
among others,  the municipalities of Indre Østfold 
and Halden to name a few. This shows that mu-
nicipalities and regions take great responsibility 
for reducing climate impact.
 
In addition, several public pools are opened in 
our countries, which makes our offers more ac-
cessible and more attractive. In addition, our own 
greentech platform has grown  even stronger and 

The year ended with a record high revenue level correspond-
ing to a growth of 57.6% covering the full year. Every single 
subsidiary in the Group showed strong growth.  This is a great 
achievement  given the  circumstances that have been going 
on in the world around us.  The strong trends from 2020 have 
continued during the year and started with an  all-time high for 
the Group.  Quarter by quarter has shown an increase in  total 
revenue since the  first quarter of  2021.  Period Jan - Dec.  2021 
ended with an all-time high in total revenue of MSEK 47.6  vs.  
30,2 MSEK from 2020 Jan -Dec resulting  in a total of 143.078 
(111.139) bookings and 4.993.795 (4.103.538) Km driven.

CEO’S STATEMENT
JAN – DEC -2021
STRONG GROWTH 
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more agile, which has given us the opportunity to
interact with other platforms such as its national 
public transport system «A tour» in Norway, as 
their first external mobility partner.
  
Our partner strategy is working and we have so far 
opened pools throughout Norway that allow lo-
cal suppliers to operate their own carpools.

The first quarter of 2022, which   is the first period 
after the pandemic, shows that there is great po-
tential for the Group’s services.  But the effects of 
Covid-19 have affected the corporate sector 
throughout the year 2021. Many companies tend 
to postpone decisions because employees were 
working remotely, and the further development 
of the pandemic was uncertain. Despite this, sev-
eral public pools have been opened, several ten-
ders have been won and companies are now re-
turning to our services as the pandemic now has 
less impact on our society.  The war in Ukraine 
affects the production of electric cars.  This could 
have an impact on our performance in the cur-
rent year.

2021 Jan – Dec compared to 2020 Jan – Dec total 
accumulated figures show the following trend;
• Bookings increased by 44 % to 143,078 (111,139)
• Total membership increased by  45% to 54,238 
(37,318)
• Mileage increased by 18% to 4,994’ (4,237’) km 
• Saved CO2 emissions increased by 18% to 474 
(402) tons

 Total revenues increased by SEK 17.4 million or 
58 % to SEK 47.6 million (30.2).  The use of  shared 
mobility seems to have changed during the pan-
demic where we see an increasing trend in 2021.  
The strategy of combining corporate and public 
pools in the mobile ecosystem has proven suc-
cessful.  An additional effect of the pandemic 
seems to be a changed driving pattern as we see 
longer trips both in mileage and time per book-
ing.

EBITDA was negative - 26.3 MSEK for Jan - Dec 
2021, compared to -0.1 MSEK Jan - Dec 2020.

The decrease in EBITDA is because – directly and 
indirectly – of Covid-19 and costs to create growth 
in our business at the same time. Directly due to 
costs such as building organization, preparing the 
fleet, IT development cost and maintaining a 
good level of service focused on expansion. Indi-
rectly due to the opening of new sites in our re-
gions, as well as the construction of the member-
ship base.

Early autumn began with an easing of Covid – 19 
restrictions until a hard lockdown met us again 
due to the Omicron situation later in the autumn. 
Now as we enter 2022, the pandemic is easing its 
grip on the world as Omicron appears to be caus-
ing fewer hospitalizations.  As we enter March 
2022, the Covid pandemic seems to be under 
control and the market and the public are being 
urged to return to normal.

Then came the brutal attack by Russia on Ukraine 
on February 24 and the impact this will have on 
public behavior is at this time when the report is 
released unpredictable. 

20
21
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58% 
Growth in total 

revenue
2020 to 2021
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THE YEAR IN BRIEF

Move About Group

 
SEK’000 2021 *1

 
2020 *2 2019 *2

Total revenue 47 578  30 188  28 175 

Gross profit 30 120  21 211  22 609 

Operating profit before depreciation and write-downs -26 310 -91  3 643 

Operating results -44 617 -9 227 -3 379 

Total assets  130 849  24 714  23 844 

Short-term liabilities  86 585  24 451  21 266 

Long-term liabilities  31 830  8 880  11 122 

Equity  12 434 -8 617 -8 544 

The year ended with record revenues in the Group. Pro forma figures including Mobileeee as of 2021.01.01 show an increase in total revenue of 58% compared to last 
year. (Control date 16.06.2021).

EBITDA showed a negative development and ended at SEK -26.3 million. At the same time, the company has managed to grow the business alongside the listing pro-
cess, building up the organization, processes and routines to meet the challenges of  a listed company.

*1 Income statement items are produced through a combination of the method of  consolidated financial statements and legal consolidation in accordance with IFRS 10.  Balance sheet items constitute legal consolidation in accordance with IFRS 10.
*2 Income and balance sheet items are prepared according to the method of consolidated financial statements
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STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT

We continued our focus on our strategy for Smart & Agile growth 
where we focus on bringing our sustainable shared mobility con-
cept to as many cities as possible. This strategy remains firm, but we 
will closely monitor and consider risks before concluding new 
agreements, particularly in view of the situation in Ukraine.

The combined research and planning activities, in which our newly 
acquired team in Germany also contributes, continue throughout 
Europe in preparation for future establishments in new cities and 
countries.  The acquisition and implementation of Mobileeee GmbH 
in the Move About group has been successful and we will use this 
position as our spearhead in the German and European markets in 
the coming future.

The publication of the Sixth Assessment Report of the IPCC (The UN 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) demonstrates the 
need for   “time to act”.  We believe that our climate-smart mobility 
services are a perfect fit for companies, municipalities, government 
agencies and others to get involved in and to deliver on their ESG 
plan, with real emission savings for the best of our planet.

STATUS OF OPERATING 
MARKETS

In our existing operating markets, the impact of Covid-19, 2nd and 
3rd waves quickly became apparent, as people were encouraged to 
work from home in both the public and private sectors and all edu-
cational institutions were closed.  

In addition, the closure of national borders significantly reduced in-
ternational travel.

 In response, we   increased our public strategy and increased our 
presence together with our strategic partners. This has led to in-
creased revenue despite the COVID-19 effects.  Our operational ac-
tivity has been maintained and the entire fleet of electric cars is in 
operation and growing.  Through our ambition strategy for scaling 
and acquisitions, our organization is ready to implement our origi-
nal establishment plan to its full extent. Now even more empow-
ered by our successful listing process where the Group has been 
given improved opportunities to be able to exceed expectations.  
Now that we are coming out of the pandemic, we are prepared for 
strong growth, with new funding ready and an organization ready.

JAN – DEC 2021

Norway Jan – Dec 2021
The Group’s performance is based on good local performance and 
efforts.  Our Norwegian operations are no exception.  2021 has been 
a year of  great success for our Norwegian operations and for the 
Group.  Our team has been expanded with new salespeople 
throughout the year.  There has been a strong focus on leveraging 
strategic partnerships through e.g. the Auto Group for our national 
expansion strategy.  Jan - Dec 2021 total revenue increased by 
+53.7% to end at SEK  13.4 million, + 4.7 million compared to last 
year of SEK  8.7 million.  Jan – Dec 2021 EBT ended at a negative SEK 
26.9 million, a deterioration of SEK 20.0 million from last year. The 
main reasons for the deviation are due to  one-off items for the  list-
ing process  and also the construction of the future organization to 
be able to meet the challenges of a listed company. Even though the 
market has been affected by the Covid-19 pandemic where compa-

nies have had to close offices and people have been working re-
motely, Move About has still been able to increase revenue from 
municipalities.  Decisions on new company pools are delayed   due 
to uncertainty about when  employees will return from remote 
work.  This slows down the projected growth of our corporate cus-
tomers.

Three new contracts in the municipalities of Indre Østfold, Marker 
and Skiptvedt started. We have also continued our contract with the 
municipality of Halden.  A total of  10 public pools were opened dur-
ing the year.  The new pools are Drammen, Kongsberg, Stavanger, 
Skøyen 1 & 2.

Tåsen and several pools in Oslo.  Our pipeline of opportunities for  
larger collaborations is growing. And we are already seeing the ef-
fects of the pandemic’s reduced pressure on society. All in all, a 
great achievement from the Norwegian team.

Sweden Jan – Dec 2021
Our Swedish team has worked hard with prospectuses and new 
contracts both for the municipal sector but also for larger corporate 
customers.  On top of that,  our strategy for expansion  in the public 
sector as well  has proven that it’s worth it. Total revenue Jan – Dec 
2021 ends at SEK 25.5 million, SEK + SEK 1.1 million compared to 
last year at SEK 24.4 million.  Jan – Dec 2021 EBT ended at negative 
SEK 12.4 million mostly due to   an increase in  new cars to 
open new pools, a deterioration of SEK 11.7 million from
-SEK 0.7 million January – Dec 2020.  The result has been affected by 
Covid 19 and delays in starting new pools.

New contracted corporate contracts are registered for Q4, in addi-
tion to major real estate partnerships to establish ridesharing in ma-
jor residential projects.  We will see the effects of these revenues in 
the first half of 2022.
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Germany Jan – Dec 2021
The German company Mobileeee GmbH was acquired in June/July 
2021. Which brought Move About to a shareholder position of 
72.8%. in the company at the end of July.  The acquisition and tran-
sition to Move About Group has been a success from the start. The 
Group has started to cooperate as a unit with cross-border opera-
tions to create added value for all the subsidiaries.

Mobileeee GmbH ended the year with 213 cars in operation, a lower 
number than expected due to a high demand for electric cars in 
Germany and with a constant backlog in deliveries.

Jan – Dec 2021 landed on a total revenue of +14.5% and + 2.5 MSEK, 
ending up at 19.8 MSEK vs. 17.3 million SEK for 2020. As the acquisi-
tion of Mobileeee GmbH took place on 2021-06-16, SEK 10.4 million 
is included in the Group’s figures for the year. See further informa-
tion about the acquisition in the notes to the interim report. Jan 
-Dec 2021 EBT ended on negative 6,3 million SEK vs.  SEK 4.1 million 
for Jan – Dec 2020.  EBIT from 16.06.2021 7 to 31.12.2021 ended at 
negative SEK 5.0 million.

GROUP
2021 has been a successful year for the Group where we have deliv-
ered according to our strategy.  We have built a completely new or-
ganizational structure both legally and operationally. We have 
strengthened key functions with qualified expertise that will have a 
great influence on our growth going forward. We have invested and 
renewed our business systems, converted our consolidated ac-
counting standards and selected a new accounting firm, KPMG, for 
all companies in the Group.  All alongside the preparations for the 
IPO.

The Group   has never been more ready to meet the market and to 
grow our business in both our existing and new markets.
 
The year ended with a good fourth quarter and ended with record 
sales at year’s end.   Total revenue for the Group ended at   47.6 
MSEK, (Mobileeee’s figures from 16.06.21) an increase of 17.4 MSEK 
from 2020 (30.2).
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CHANGES IN THE GROUP

In 2021, the Group has successfully achieved its goals of becoming a 
listed company.  Somewhat delayed, the group was noted at Nas-
daq First North in Stockholm 2022-02-23. The newly formed parent 
company of the Move About Group AB group is the listing unit. 
Shareholders from the old group that holds Move About AS, Norway 
have all, as of October 8, 2021, exchanged their shares for shares in 
the listed company Move About Group AB.

Move About AS, as the then parent company, completed a capital 
raise of SEK  25 million in February 2021 and an additional SEK  12 
million in May.  This is in addition to the capital raise in March 2020 
at
8 MSEK.  In addition, we are restructuring our financial positions by 
extending and expanding our credit lines with our leasing partners.

During the first three quarters of 2021, the company has expanded 
lease lines totaling SEK 60 million with various suppliers. Efforts to 
secure the economy for future growth will continue and we expect  
to secure additional lease lines in Q4 2021.  Move About AS was 
granted a bridge loan of SEK 10 million until the listing proceeds 
became available.

Move About Group AB, the new holding company for the Group, has 
not had any activity during the period. Shareholders in the former 
holding company in the Move About AS group will be changed from 
Move About AS till Move About Group AB as of October 8, 2021.  In 
addition, the new parent company has entered into a short-term  
agreement for  a bridge financing of SEK 10 million in December 
2021 to secure liquidity for the Group until the listing in February.

RISKS

The risks defined below are described for the Group. Financial risk is 
presented in Note 16.

COVID-19

As the impact of Covid-19 diminishes and the public   society    reo-
pens, we expect our  services in both public and corporate markets 
to escalate.   Businesses  will be back  to normal activity and working 
from home has become the new normal.  Working from home/re-
motely has increased focus on  leveraging alternatives to owning a 
private car.

SEMICONDUCTORS AND 
ACCESS TO ELECTRIC CARS

Due to the pandemic, there is  an underproduction of semiconduc-
tors used in all cars. The lack of production capacity can lead to a 
shortage of electric cars in the market. The Group as a whole is 
working on plans to ensure demand for further volume and growth 
in all geographic areas present.

RUSSIA’S INVASION OF 
UKRAINE

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February makes  the business cli-
mate in our markets unpredictable and we have no information at 
this stage on how this will affect our business. Yet we fear that an 
effect of this hostile attack on Ukraine could lead to increased elec-
tricity prices, increased inflation and higher interest rates, and hit 
the financial markets as an example.
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474 Tons 
CO2 emissions 
saved in 2021
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE BUSINESS
Move About’s business concept is to offer mod-
ern, simple, cost-effective and environmentally 
friendly mobile solutions to both companies, in-
dividuals, municipalities and organizations. The 
company has developed and owns all intellectual 
property rights to a cloud-based platform that 
makes it possible to get digital access to,  among 
other things, electric cars, electric bicycles, taxis, 
subways and parking via one and the same  app. 
In the Company’s opinion, there is no similar ser-
vice provider in Europe that has more experience 
in offering electric car pools than Move About.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE  
ACCOUNTING YEAR
The company has completed several capital raises 
and made an acquisition of a mobility solutions 
company in Germany, Mobileeee, which as of June 
16, 2021 has been consolidated in the group’s fig-
ures.  A total of SEK  55 million added, SEK 37.5 
million in cash and SEK 17.5 million in share ex-
change in new capital have been added during the 
first half of the year in the form of new issues of 
shares in February and May.

During Q4, the company raised capital through 

loans from existing shareholders and a bridge 
loan from external lenders.  The capital injection 
from existing shareholders took place in October 
to finance the acquisition of cars on the German 
market. In addition to the capital injection, the 
company took out, in December 2021, a bridge 
loan from an external lender of SEK  10 million.

At the board meeting on 07.09.21, it was decided 
to cancel the ongoing option program. The deci-
sion was made in consultation with the program 
participants and entails a non-cash impacting 
salary cost amounting to SEK 4.1 million.

MANAGEMENT
Move About Group AB has completed two recruit-
ments and strengthened the management team 
with a new CFO, Bent Fossum, and a new Group 
controller Magnus Bergan.

THE GROUP’S TOTAL REVENUE AND EARNINGS
The Group consists of the parent company Move 
About Group AB and the subsidiaries Move About 
AS, Move About AB, Move About Tech, and Mo-
bileeee GMBH.  Move About Group AB does not 
conduct any operational activities.

TOTAL REVENUE
Total revenue increased during the financial year 
to SEK 47.6 (30.2) million.  The higher net sales are 
mainly due  to  Move About’s acquisition of the 
German company Mobileeee, as well as an in-
crease in the car fleet that meant that more cus-
tomers used our services. In 2021, we saw strong 
demand for our mobility services. During the year  
, the focus has been on growth both in terms of 
customers and also on expanding  our car fleet.  
Planned activities were to list the  company in 
2022 and to open a number of flagship pools, ex 
Stavanger, Linköping, Ludwigshafen etc.  The ef-
fect of Covid-19 has had a negative impact on 
sales during the period when all countries have 
been in lockdowns.
 
COSTS
Operating expenses for the full year amounted to 
SEK 73.9 million (30.3). The cost increase is main-
ly due to the ongoing work to put the Group on 
the stock exchange, preparing the  company for 
growth and the acquisition of the German subsid-
iary Mobileeee.  Personnel costs for the year SEK 
26.8 million (11.5), external costs amounted to 
SEK 29.6 million (9.8) and depreciation/amortiza-
tion was SEK 18.3 million (9.1). Exchange rate dif

ferences for the full year 2021 amounted to SEK 
-0.4 million (0.8).
 
RESULT
For the full year, operating profit amounted to 
SEK -44.6 million (-9.2) and net profit to SEK -47.6 
million (-9.1).

CASH FLOW 
Cash flow from operating activities for the full 
year amounted to SEK -32.8 million (-3.2). Cash 
and cash equivalents amounted to SEK  5.6 mil-
lion at the end  of the period, compared with SEK 
1 million at the beginning of the year. 

PARENT COMPANY’S SALES AND EARNINGS 
Turnover
The Parent Company’s net sales amounted to 
SEK 0.0 million.

COSTS
The Parent Company’s external costs for the full 
year amounted to SEK  -0.3 million (0.0).  Operat-
ing profit for the full year amounted to SEK -0.3 
million (0.0) and net profit to SEK -0.8 million 
(0.0).

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CEO OF MOVE ABOUT GROUP (PUBL) 559311-9232 HEREBY SUBMIT THE ANNUAL REPORT 

AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE GROUP AND PARENT COMPANY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 1 JANUARY 2021 - 31 DECEMBER 2021.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL FOR  
ALLOCATION OF PROFIT 
At the disposal of the Annual General Meeting   are the 
following earnings (SEK thousand): Profit received SEK 
0 million.  Profit for the year SEK -0.8 million. The Board 
of Directors proposes that the profits be disposed of so 
that SEK -0.8 million is transferred in a new account.

EXPECTED FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS AND  
MATERIAL RISK FACTORS 
The Board notes that the Group’s high growth in 
recent years, the consolidation of Mobileeee in 
Germany and the work to prepare the company 
for the IPO have been at the expense of internal 
efficiency.

The Board of Directors has therefore decided to 

adopt an action program to reduce costs and
 
ensure profitable growth in the Company. As part 
of the program, the organization will be united 
and the country managers in the Group will be 
given greater responsibility. All subsidiaries are 
affected by the action plan and 17 out of 40 posi-
tions within the Group will be discontinued. The 
action program is expected to reach full effect to-
wards the end of 2022 and is expected to result in 
a significant reduction in the Company’s costs in 
2023.

The Board of Directors and management make 
ongoing assessments of the risks that may affect 
both the valuation of the Group’s assets and lia-
bilities and its profitability.  The ongoing COV-
ID-19 pandemic and the subsequent effects of 
lockdown countries, workplaces and airports are 
also affecting Move About and its customers. The 
scope is still difficult to estimate, but decision 
paths are longer and more hesitant, which cre-
ates uncertainty about new business.
  
FINANCING RISK
Financing risk is defined as the risk that financing of 
the business is difficult and/or expensive to obtain.  At 
the time of publication of  the report,  we have carried 
out a successful IPO and ensured continued opera-
tion for 12 months  from February 23,  2022.  To  en-
sure continued operation after this and repayment of 

outstanding short-term loans,  a new financing solu-
tion must be put in place.  See Note 23 for more info.

CURRENCY RISK 
With increasing sales, the Group and   the Parent 
Company may be exposed to currency exposure 
as most of the revenues and costs are expected to 
be received and paid in elections other than 
Swedish kronor.

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is defined as the risk that Move About’s 
counterparties are unable to meet their financial 
obligations to the company.  The risk that the com-
pany’s customers do not fulfill their commitments, 
that is, that payment is not received for accounts 
receivable, constitutes a customer credit risk. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR
The company’s position has improved financially 
in 2022. On 1 February 2022, the Board of Direc-
tors resolved to carry out a new issue of shares 
and warrants (so-called units) prior to the Com-
pany’s listing on Nasdaq First North Growth Mar-
ket.  A total of 4,800,000 units were subscribed for 
and issued of SEK 45.1 million

The company’s share was admitted to trading on 
Nasdaq First North Growth Market with the first 
day of trading on February 23, 2022.

The Board of Directors has also decided to imple-
ment a directed share issue to a few persons con-
nected to the Company subject to approval by 
the Annual General Meeting. Convertible bonds 
are issued at a total nominal value of SEK 10 mil-
lion.

The Company has replaced the CEO from Morten 
von Krogh to the Company’s current Acting CEO, 
Olof Jonasson.  The company has also replaced 
CFO from Bent Fossum to Magnus Bergan.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 24.02.2022 has 
made the business climate in the markets unpre-
dictable and difficult to assess.

As the parent company in 2021 has not had any 
income but has been burdened with some costs, 
the company has ended up in the situation that 
the  equity  in the parent company is used up at 
the end of the year.

Equity has been restored and strengthened in 
2022 when the company received new equity in 
connection with the implementation of the IPO in 
February 2022.

For further information on management’s and 
the Board’s assessment of assumptions about 
continued operation.

PARENT COMPANY

THE FOLLOWING EARNINGS (SEK THOUSAND) ARE 
AVAILABLE TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING:

Premium fund - 
Balanced earnings -
Profit for the year -823
Crown -823

The Board of Directors proposes that the profits
disposed so that in new count is transferred -823

-823
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Move About Group

1 january - 31 december 
SEK 000’ Not 2021 *1 2020 *2

Net sales 2  44 009  26 574 
Other operating income 2,3  3 569  3 615 

Total revenue  47 578  30 188 

Cost of services sold -17 458 -8 977 

Gross profit  30 120  21 211 

Personnel costs 5 -26 807 -11 550 
Other external expenses 4 -29 623 -9 753 

Operating profit before depreciation and amortization -26 310 -92 

Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible fixed assets 9,10,17 -18 307 -9 136 

Operating income      -44 617 -9 227 

Other interest income and similar income  2  6 
Interest and similar charges -2 524 -669 

Profit after financial items -47 139 -9 890 

Profit before tax -47 139 -9 890 
Tax 7  -    -   
 Profit for the year -47 139 -9 890 

Other comprehensive income
Items that have been or may be reassigned to profit or  loss for the year
Translation differences for the year in  the translation of foreign operations -446  800 

Other comprehensive income for the year -446  800 

Comprehensive income for the year -47 585 -9 089 

REPORT ON EARNINGS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE GROUP
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1 januari - 31 december 
SEK 000’ Not 2021 *1 2020 *2

Comprehensive income for the year  attributable to:
Parent company owner -46 164 -9 089 
  Non-controlling interests -1 421  -   

Comprehensive income for the year -47 585 -9 089 

Earnings per share
before dilution (SEK) -1,85 -0,45 
diluted (SEK) -1,85 -0,45 

*1 The financial report for the  period is prepared according to a combination of the  method  of  consolidated financial statements and legal consolidation according to IFRS 10.  The combined financial statements represent the group of units that became a group on   
October 7, 2021 when the parent company of the  group, Move About Group AB through an issue in kind Acquired 100% of the  shares in Move About AS.  From October 7,  legal consolidation will take place in accordance with IFRS 10.  For more information see Note 1.
*2 The financial statement for the period is prepared according to the method of consolidated financial statements,
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Move About Group

SEK 000’ Not 31.12.2021 *1 31.12.2020 *2

Assets
Intangible fixed assets 9  43 202  1 307 
Property, plant and equipment 10  6 208  208 
Right-of use assets 17  51 921  14 405 
Shares in associates Long-term receivables  15  14 
Långfristiga fordringar  1 238  717 
Total fixed assets  102 585  16 650 
Inventories  862  214 
Accounts receviables 15  19 734  3 947 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 15  1 817  2 923 
Cash and cash equivalents 11,15  5 851  981 
Total current assets  28 264  8 064 
Total assets  130 849  24 714 

REPORT ON  THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE GROUP
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SEK 000’ Not 31.12.2021 *1 31.12.2020 *2

Own capital
Share capital 12  503  -   
Other contributed capital Conversion reserve  - -
Profit brought forward including profit for the year -117  564 
Balanserad vinst inklusive årets resultat  1 676 -9 180 

 Non-controlling interests  11 559  -   

Total equity  12 434 -8 617 

Debts
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 13  500  1 307 
Long-term lease liabilities 13,15,17  31 330  7 573 
Total long-term liabilities  31 830  8 880 

Current interest-bearing liabilities 13  12 266 854
Short-term lease liabilities 13,15,17  21 435  9 644 
Accounts payable 15  20 098  5 618 
Accrued expenses and deferred income  6 157  4 172 
Other liabilities 14  26 629  4 162 
Total current liabilities  86 585  24 451 
Total debts  118 416  33 331 
Total equity  and liabilities  130 849  24 714 

*1 The financial report for the period is prepared with legal consolidation in accordance with IFRS 10.
*2 The financial statement for the period is prepared according to the method of consolidated financial statements,
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Attributable to parent company shareholders

REPORT ABOUT CHANGES IN OWN CAPITAL FOR GROUP

SEK’000 Share capital

Other 
contributed 

capital
Conversion 

reserve

Balanced profit 
including this 

years result Total

Holdings 
without 

determining 
influence

Total equity 
capital

earn
Opening equity  2020-01-01  -    -   -237 -8 307 -8 544  -   -8 544 

Comprehensive income for the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Profit for the year  -    -    -   -9 890 -9 890  -   -9 890 
Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -    800  -    800  -    800 
Comprehensive income for the year  -    -    800 -9 890 -9 089  -   -9 089 

Transactions with group owners

Dividends paid  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

New share issue  -    -    -    7 767  7 767  -    7 767 

Share-based remuneration  -    -    -    1 250  1 250  -    1 250 

By staff exercised share options  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total contributions from and value transfers to owners  -    -    -    9 017  9 017  -    9 017 

Closing equity  2020-12-31 *2  -    -    564 -9 180 -8 617  -   -8 617 
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SEK’000 Share capital

Other 
contributed 

capital
Conversion 

reserve

Balanced profit 
including this 

years result Total

Holdings 
without 

determining 
influence

Total equity 
capital

Opening equity  2021-01-01  -    -    564 -9 180 -8 617  -   -8 617 
Comprehensive income for the year
 Profit for the year  -    -    -   -46 164 -46 164 -1 421 -47 585 
Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -   -446 -446  -   - 
Comprehensive income for the year  -    -   -446 -46 164 -47 585 -1 421 -47 585 

Transactions with group owners

Contributions from and transfers of value to owners

 -    -    -   - -  -   -
Rights issue  503  -    -    54 519  55 022  -    55 022 
Share-based remuneration  -    -    -    2 055  2 055  -    2 055 

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total contributions from and value transfers to owners  503  -    -    56 574  57 077  -    57 077 

  Non-controlling interests  -    -    11 559  11 559 
Closing equity  2021-12-31 *1  503  -    117  1 676  2 296  10 137  12 434 

Attributable to parent company shareholders

*1 The financial report for the period is prepared with legal consolidation in accordance with IFRS 10.
*2 The financial statement for the period is prepared according to the method of consolidated financial statements,
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Move About Group

1 januari – 31 december
SEK 000’ 2021 *1 2020 *2

 Day-to-day operations
Profit before tax -47 139 -9 890 
Depreciation  18 307  9 136 
Costs related to share-based remuneration  2 055  1 426 
Interest on lease obligations  -  378 
Other non-cash  items -17 388 -1 159 
Income tax paid  -    -   

Cash flow from operating activities before change in  working capital -44 165 -109 
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in inventories -648  621 
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating receivables -15 787 -560 
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in operating liabilities  14 480  3 213 
Cash flow from operating activities -46 121  3 166 

Sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  1 238  -   
Acquisition of subsidiaries -10 093 -18 
Förvärv av dotterbolag 1 092  -   
Cash flow from investing activities -7 763 -18 

Rights issue
 Loans raised  42 222  4 913 
Amortization of loans  35 535  2 120 
Shareholder contribution -751  172 
Interest on lease obligations  -    -   
Amortization of lease debt 594  - 
Amortering av leasingskuld -18 964 -10 299 
Cash flow from financing activities  58 636 -3 094 

Exchange rate difference in cash and cash equivalents  117  91 

 Cash flow for the year  4 870  144 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  981  836 
Cash and cash equivalents at year-end  5 851  981 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE GROUP

*1 The financial report for the  period is prepared according to a combination of the  method  of  consolidated financial statements and legal consolidation according to IFRS 10.  The combined financial statements represent the group of entities that became a group on 
October  7, 2021 when the parent company of the group, Move About Group AB through an issue in kind, acquired 100% of the shares in Move About AS. From October 7, legal consolidation will take place in accordance with IFRS 10. For more information see Note 1.
*2 The financial statement for the period is prepared according to the method of consolidated financial statements
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Delivering sustainable mobility 
services for a greener world.
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The newly formed parent company Move About Group will be formed in 2021, where the reporting period will run from 01.06.2021 to 31.12.2021.  There has been no business in the  company  until the  shareholders 
of the former holding company Move About As were transferred to the new holding as of 2021-10-08.

The business has been limited to costs related to audit/consulting and other consultants.  In addition, the Group made a bridge financing loan in December 2021.

FIGURES FOR THE PARENT COMPANY MOVE ABOUT GROUP AB

PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

Move About Group AB 
SEK 000’ Not 2021 2020

Net sales Operating income  -    -   
 -    -   

Total revenue  -    -   
Cost of services sold  -    -   

Gross profit  -    -   

Personnel costs  -    -   
External costs 2  -275 -
Operating profit before depreciation  and amortization  -275 -
Depreciation and amortization of material and intangible fixed assets  -    -   
Operating result -275 -
Net financial items  -548  - 
Profit before tax -823 - 
Tax
Profit after tax -823 - 

Profit for the period -823 - 
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Current assets    
Accounts receivable and other receivables 4  9 500 -
Cash and bank    5  62 -
Total current assets 9 562  - 
Total assets  10 066 -

SEK 000’
Balance sheet Not 2021 2020

Fixed assets
Shares in Group companies 3  503 -
Total fixed assets 503 -

Move About Group AB

PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
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Current liabilities

Accounts payable and other liabilities  364 -
Interest-bearing liabilities 6 9 972 -
Provision for other liabilities and costs  50  - 
Total current liabilities Total  10 386 -
Liabilities  10 386 -
Total equity and liabilities  10 066  - 

Equity and liabilities Equity    
Tied up own capital    
Share capital    
Unrestricted equity Premium fund Profit carried out for the year  503  - 
Total equity 
Överkursfond - -
Balanserat resultat - -
Årets resultat -823 -
Total equity -320 -
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SEK’000 Share capital
Premium 

fund
Balanced 

result
This year’s 

results Total

Holdings 
without 

determining 
influence Total equity

New formation 2021-06-01  25    -    -    -    -    -   -

Comprehensive income for the year
 Profit for the year  -    -    -   -823 -823 - -823 
Other comprehensive income for the year         -   -
Comprehensive income for the year    -823 -823 - -823 

Transactions with group owners  -    -    -   -  -   - -

Contributions from and transfers of value to owners  -  -    -   -  - - -

Dividends  -    -    -    -    -    -   -
Rights issue  478    -    -    -    503    -   503
Share-related compensation  -  -    -    -    -  -   -
Stock options redeemed by staff  -    -    -    -   

Total contributions from and value transfers to owners  478  -    -   -823 -320  -   -

Holdings without controlling influence  -    -    -    -    -   - -
Closing equity  2021-12-31  503  -    - -823 -320 - -320

REPORT ABOUT CHANGES IN OWN CAPITAL FOR PARENT COMPANY
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Move About Group

1 june - 31 december
Tkr 2021 2020

Day-to-day operations
Profit before tax -823  -   
Depreciation  -    -   
Costs related to share-based remuneration  -    -   
Interest on loans  -  -   
Other non-cash  items  -    -   
Income tax paid  -    -   

Cash flow from operating activities before change in  working capital -823  -   
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in inventories  -    -   
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating receivables  -9 500  -   
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in operating liabilities  414    -   
Cash flow from operating activities  -9 910  -   

Investments
Sale of property, plant and equipment  -    -   
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  -    -   
Cash flow from investing activities  -    -   

Financing
Rights issue  -  -   
 Loans raised 9 972  -   
Amortization of loans  -   
Shareholder contribution  -    -   
Amortization of lease debt  -    -   
Cash flow from financing activities  9 972  -   

Exchange rate difference in cash and cash equivalents  -    -   

Cash flow for the year  62  -   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  of the year  -    -   
Cash and cash equivalents at year-end  62  -   

 REPORT ON CASH FLOW FOR THE PARENT COMPANY
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+16.900 
New customers 

registered 
in 2021
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PARENT COMPANY

The Group has been under reorganization during the period. Move About Group AB, our new Swedish holding company for the Group has been established and all previous shareholders are transferred to the new 
unit as of 2021-10-08

Parent company

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOT 01 //   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Parent Company has prepared its annual report in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act 
(1995:1554) and the Financial  Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for legal entities.  
Statements issued   by the  Financial Reporting Board  regarding listed companies are also applied.  
RFR 2 means that the parent company    shall apply  all IFRS and statements  adopted by   the EU as  far 
as possible within the framework of the Annual Accounts Act, the Safeguarding Act and    taking into 
account the relationship between accounting and taxation. The recommendation specifies which ex-
ceptions to and additions to IFRS should be made.

The Parent Company generally applies the same accounting principles as the Group.  In the parent 
company, the exemption in RFR 2 is applied for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.  This means, among 
other things, that financial instruments are valued based on cost.

NOT 02 //   FEES AND REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES TO AUDITORS
 

2021 2020

Tkr
Auditing 275 -

Other services - -

275 -

Audit assignments refer to statutory audits of the annual and consolidated financial statements and 
accounting, as well as the administration of the Board of Directors and the CEO, as well as audits and 
other audits carried out in accordance with agreement or agreement. This includes other duties that it 
is the responsibility of the company’s auditor to perform as well as advice or other assistance that is 
prompted by observations in such review or the implementation of such other tasks.
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NOT 03 //   SHARES IN GROUP COMPANIES

Shares in group companies in Move About AS with org number: 991905421 based in Oslo.

2021-12-31
Number of Shares/Equity Amount 

Shares in group companies 201 271/ 100% 503 178

Shares in group companies are reported in the parent company at cost

Name Registered office 2021 2020

Mobileeee Ltd Frankfurt Germany 72,8 -
Mobileeee Btriebsgesellschaft & Co Medical Frankfurt Germany 100 -
Move About Administrative Ltd Frankfurt Germany 100 -
Move About AS Oslo Norway 100 100
Move About Off Gothenburg, Sweden 100 100

NOT 04 //   RECEIVABLES FROM GROUP COMPANIES

2021-12-31 2020-12-31

MSEK
Future 9 500 -

Outgoing accumulative values 9 500 -

Closing carrying amount 9 500 -

NOT 05 //   LIQUID MEANS

Cash and cash equivalents, refer to existing funds on the balance sheet date in the parent company’s 
bank account in corporate bank DNB.

NOT 06 //   SHORT-TERM LOAN FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

2021-12-31 2020-12-31

MSEK
Short-period loan 9 972 -

Closing carrying amount 9 972 -

 



30ANNUAL REPORT  2021  

ANNUAL REPORT 2021  

NOT 07 //   EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE PERIOD

The company’s position has improved financially in 2022. On 1 February 2022, the Board of Directors 
resolved to carry out a new issue of shares and warrants (so-called units) prior to the Company’s listing  
on Nasdaq First North Growth Market.  A total of 4,800,000 units of SEK  45.1 million were  subscribed 
for and issued 

The company’s share was admitted to trading on Nasdaq First North Growth Market with the first day 
of trading on February 23, 2022.

The Board of Directors has also decided to carry out a directed share issue to a few persons linked to 
the Company subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting.  Convertible bonds are issued at 
a total nominal value of SEK 10 million.

The Company has replaced the CEO from Morten von Krogh to the Company’s current Acting CEO, Olof 
Jonasson. The company has also replaced CFO from Bent Fossum to Magnus Bergan.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 24.02.2022 has made the business climate in the markets unpredicta-
ble and difficult to assess.

Since the   parent company in 2021 has not had any   revenues nut burdened with costs, the company  
has ended up in the situation that the equity in the parent company is used up at the end of the year. 

Equity has been restored in 2022 when the company received new equity in connection with the im-
plementation of the IPO in February 2022.
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Group

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOT 01 //   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the following companies:
- Move About AB
- Move About AS
- Move About Technologies AB
- Mobileeee GmbH
The companies listed above   formed a group of companies, with Move About Group AB as the parent 
company.  However, consolidated financial statements have historically not been prepared. As part of 
the listing, the group is reorganized and a new company, Move About Group AB, as the parent compa-
ny, see below, has been added on October 8, 2021.

The financial statements are prepared according to a combination of the method of combined finan-
cial statements and legal consolidation according to IFRS 10.  The Move About Group was formed on 
October 8 when the parent company of the Group, Move About Group AB, through an issue in kind 
acquired 100% of the shares in Move About AS.

The transaction regarding these businesses under the same controlling influence took place on Octo-
ber 8,  2021 , where the inactive company, Move About Group AB, became a new parent company for 
the entire Move  The About business was conducted through the Move About AS group.

There are no rules in International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for consolidated financial 
statements.  Since IFRS (EU) does  not provide  any specific guidance,  accounting policies have been 
established by the Group to recognize such transactions at their historical carrying values as reported 
in the Move About Group AB Group, as if the reorganization occurred at the beginning of the earliest 
reported period.  The term “consolidated financial statements” refers to financial information  pre-
pared by merging financial information of entities under the same controlling interest that does  not 
meet the  definition of a group under IFRS 10.  All intercompany transac-
 

tions between legal units within the reporting unit have been eliminated. Accordingly, the consolidat-
ed financial statements represent the economic activities of the reporting entity formed on October 8, 
2021.

(a) Compliance with legislation and law
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations issued by the International Accounting Stand-
ards Board (IASB) as adopted by the  EU.  Furthermore, the Financial Reporting Board’s recommenda-
tion RFR 1 Supplementary accounting rules for groups have been applied. 

The Parent Company has prepared its annual report in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act 
(1995:1554) and the Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for legal entities.  
Statements issued by the Financial Reporting Board regarding listed companies are also applied.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors and 
the CEO. The Group’s statement of earnings and other comprehensive income and the statement of 
financial position and the parent company’s income   and balance sheet will be subject to determina-
tion at the Annual General Meeting on the day/month/year.

(b) Valuation bases applied in the preparation of the financial statements
Assets and liabilities are carried at historical cost.

(c) Functional currency and reporting currency
The parent company’s functional currency is Swedish kronor, which is also the reporting currency for 
the parent company and for the Group. This means that the financial statements are presented in 
Swedish kronor.  All amounts are, unless otherwise stated, rounded to the smallest thousands.
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(d) Judgments and estimates in the financial statements
Preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgments 
and estimates and make assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual outcomes may differ from these 
estimates and estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly.  Changes to estimates are recognized in the 
period the change is made if the change only affected that period, or in the period the change is made 
and future periods if the change affects both the current period and future periods.

Assessments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant impact on the 
financial statements and estimates made that may result in material adjustments to the financial 
statements of the following year are described in more detail in Note 23.

(e) Significant applied accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have, with the exceptions described in more detail  , been ap-
plied consistently throughout all periods presented in the Group’s financial statements.  Group

Furthermore, accounting policies have been consistently applied by group companies, with respect to 
associates where necessary by aligning them with group principles.

(f) New IFRS not yet in application
New and amended IFRS with future application are not expected to have any material effect on the 
company’s financial statements.

(g) Classification, etc.
Fixed assets consist substantially of amounts expected to be recovered or paid after   more than twelve 
months   from the  balance sheet date while current assets consist substantially  of amounts expected 
to be recovered or paid within twelve months. months from the  balance sheet date.  Long-term liabil-
ities consist  in all     material respects of amounts that the Group has an unconditional right to choose 
to pay beyond twelve months  at the  end of the  reporting period.  after the end  of the reporting peri-
od.  If the Group does not have such a right at the end of the reporting period – or is held debt for 
trading or is expected to be settled within the normal business cycle – the amount of the liability is 
recognized as a short-term liability.

 
(h) Operating segment reports
An operating segment is a part of the Group   that conducts business from which it can generate reve-
nue and incurs  costs and for which there  is independent financial information available.  The results 
of an operating segment are further monitored by the company’s highest executive decision-makers to 
evaluate the result and to be able to allocate resources to the operating segment.  See Note 2 for fur-
ther description of the division and presentation of operating segments.

(i) Principles of consolidation

(i) Operating acquisitions
The Group assesses for each transaction whether a business combination or an asset acquisition ex-
ists.  A business combination occurs when the enterprise acquires control  over a business/move-
ments.  A business consists of activities and assets, the minimum of which consists of inputs and sub-
stantial processes, which can produce goods or services to customers to provide returns in the 
ordinary business. See also note 20.

For transactions where, in all material respects, the fair value of the assets acquired consists of an asset 
or a group of similar assets is recognized, by a simplified assessment, as an asset acquisition.  The 
choice of using the simplified assessment is applied transaction for transaction.

(ii) Subsidiary
Subsidiaries are companies that are under the controlling influence of the Parent Company. The par-
ent company has influence over the investment object, is exposed to or entitled to a variable return 
from its engagement and can use its influence over the investment to influence the return.  When as-
sessing whether a controlling interest exists, potential voting shares and whether de facto control ex-
ists are considered.

Subsidiaries are accounted for according to the acquisition method. The method means that the ac-
quisition of a subsidiary is considered as a transaction whereby the group indirectly acquires the as-
sets of the subsidiary  and assumes its liabilities.  The acquisition analysis determines the correct value 
at the  date of acquisition of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and any non-controlling inter-
ests.  Transaction expenses, except for transaction expenses attributable to the issuance of equity or 
debt instruments, incurred directly in profit or loss for the year.
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in the case of business combinations where the remuneration transferred, any non-controlling interest 
and the fair value of   the previously owned interest (in the case of phased acquisitions) exceed the fair 
value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities recognized separately; the difference is recognized as 
goodwill.  When the difference is negative, so-called acquisitions at a low price, this is reported direct-
ly in the profit for the year.

Transferred remuneration in connection with the acquisition does not include payments relating to 
the settlement of past business relationships.  This type of regulation is usually accounted for in the 
result.

Contingent purchase prices are recognized at fair value at the time of acquisition. In cases where the 
contingent purchase price is classified as an equity instrument, no revaluation is made and settlement 
is made within equity. For other contingent purchase price, these are revalued at each reporting date 
and the change is reported in the profit for the year.

In cases where the acquisition does not concern 100 % of the subsidiary, non-controlling interests 
arise. There are two options for accounting for holdings without decisive influence. These two options 
are to recognize the non-controlling interest share of proportional net assets or to recognize   non-con-
trolling interests at fair value, which means that: 

non-controlling holdings the influence has a share in goodwill. The choice between the different op-
tions to account for non-controlling interests can be made acquisition by acquisition.

In the case of acquisitions that take place in stages, goodwill is determined on the date on which con-
trolling influence arises.  Previous holdings are measured at fair value and the change in value is re-
ported in profit for the year.
The remaining holdings are measured at fair value and the change in value is recognized in profit for 
the year when disposals result in the termination of control.

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 
Acquisitions from   non-controlling interests are recognized as an intra-equity transaction.
i.e., between the owners of the parent company (within retained earnings) and non-controlling inter-
ests. The change in non-controlling interest is based on its proportional share of net assets.
 

Sale to non-controlling interest 
Sales to non-controlling interests, where control remains, are reported as an equity transaction, i.e., 
between the owners of the parent company and non-controlling interests. The difference between the 
amount of capital received and the proportional share of net assets acquired is shown under retained 
earnings.

(vi)  Transactions eliminated in consolidation
Intra-group receivables and liabilities, income or expenses, and unrealized gains or losses arising from 
intra-group transactions between group companies are eliminated in their entirety upon preparation 
of consolidated financial statements. Unrealized assets arising from transactions with associates and 
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent corresponding to the group’s ownership interest in the com-
pany. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that 
there is no need for impairment.

(j) Foreign exchange

(i) Transactions in foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency are converted into the functional currency at the exchange rate pre-
vailing on the date of the transaction. Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environments companies conduct their business. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in for-
eign currency are converted into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the conversions are recognized in profit or loss for the 
year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities recognized at historical value are translated at an exchange 
rate at the time of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities recognized at fair values are 
translated into the functional currency at the rate prevailing at the time of fair value measurement.

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations
Assets and liabilities in foreign operations, including goodwill and other consolidated surplus and un-
dervalues, are translated from the functional currency of the foreign operation into the Group’s report-
ing currency,  Swedish kronor, at   the exchange rate  prevailing at Balance sheet date.  Income and 
expenses in a foreign operation are translated into Swedish kronor at an average rate that approxi-
mates the exchange rates that existed at the time of each transaction. Translation differences arising 
from the currency translation of foreign operations are otherwise recognized as comprehensive in-
come and accumulated in a separate composition of equity, called a translation reserve.  In the case 
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of the foreign business is not wholly owned, the conversion difference is allocated to non-controlling 
holdings based on its proportional ownership. When a foreign operation ceases to have a dominant 
influence, significant influence or joint control, the accumulated translation differences attributable to 
the business are realized and reclassified from the conversion reserve into own capital to profit for the 
year. In cases where disposal takes place but control remains, a proportional share of accumulated 
translation differences is transferred from the translation reserve to non-controlling interests. In the 
case of the replacement of parts of associates and joint ventures with significant or joint control, a 
proportionate proportion of the conversion differences is reclassified to profit or loss for the year.

(k) Take
Performance commitments and revenue recognition principles
Revenue is valued based on the remuneration specified in the contract with the customer. The Group 
recognizes revenue when control over a good or service is transferred to the customer.

Information on the nature and timing of performance obligations in contracts with customers, includ-
ing material payment terms, and related revenue recognition principles is summarized below.

The group mainly generates revenue to provide car-sharing services to both corporate and private 
customers.  For private customers, contracts have a typical term of less than one day.  For corporate 
clients, contracts have a typical term of  1-5 years.  For car-sharing services, the Group has not identi-
fied any distinct performance obligations but treats all components of the service agreement as a 
single performance commitment that is fulfilled over time.  Any revenue derived from initial advance 
payments in connection with subdivision contracts is recognized as deferred revenue and recognized 
as revenue over the duration of the contract.  The measurement of progress towards fulfillment of 
performance commitment is based on time. The cost of obtaining a contract is recorded as a deferred 
cost and is recognized as an expense during the contract period.

Invoicing is done monthly and should usually be paid 30 days from the time the invoice was received 
by the customer.

(iv)  State aid
Government grants are reported in the statement of financial position as accrued income when there 
is reasonable assurance that the contribution will be received and that the group will meet the condi-
tions associated with the grant. Grants are accrued systematically in profit or loss for the year in the 
same way and over the same periods as the costs the grants are intended to compensate for, unless 
the conditions of:
 

to receive the grant is fulfilled after the related costs have been recognized.  In these cases, the contri-
bution is recognized in the period during which the enterprise receives a receivable from the state.

(l) Leasing
When entering into an agreement, the Group assesses whether the agreement is, or contains, a lease 
agreement. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the agreement confers the right to determine, for a 
certain period, the use of an identified asset in exchange for consideration.

At the commencement of the lease or upon reconsideration of a lease that includes multiple compo-
nents – lease and non-lease components – the Group allocates the compensation under the agree-
ment to each component based on the stand-alone price. However, for leases of buildings and land 
where the Group is the lessee, the Group has chosen not to distinguish between leasing components 
and accounts for leasing and non-leasing components paid with fixed amounts as a single leasing 
component.

(i) Lease agreements in which the Group is the lessee
The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease.  
The right-of-use asset is initially valued at cost, which consists of the initial value of the lease liability 
plus lease payments paid at or before the commencement date plus any initial direct expenses. The 
right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis from the commencement date to the earlier of 
the  end of the  asset’s useful life and the end of  the lease term, which is normally the end  of the lease 
term for the Group.  In the rarer   cases where the value of the right of use reflects that the Group will 
exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset, the asset is depreciated to end of useful life.

The lease liability – which is divided into long-term and short-term parts – is initially valued at the 
present value of the remaining lease payments during the assessed lease term. The lease term consists 
of the non-cancelable period with additions for additional periods in the agreement if at the com-
mencement date it is deemed reasonably certain that these will be used.

The lease payments are normally discounted with the Group’s marginal borrowing rate, which in addi-
tion to the Group’s/company’s credit risk reflects each of the company’s lease term, currency and qual-
ity of the underlying asset as intended collateral. However, in cases where the implied interest rate of 
the lease can be easily determined, that rate is used, as is the case for parts of the Group’s leases of 
vehicles.

The lease liability includes the present value of the following fees during the assessed lease term:
• fixed charges, including   fixed charges. 
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• variable lease payments linked to the index or rate, initially valued using the index or rate in 
force at the start date.
• any residual value guarantees expected to be paid.
• the price of a call option that the Group is reasonably sure to exercise and
• penalties levied upon termination of the lease if the assessed lease term reflects that such 
termination will occur.

The value of the debt is increased by the interest cost for the respective period and reduced by the 
lease payments. The interest expense is calculated as the value of the debt times the discount rate.

The lease liability for the Group’s premises with rent as indexed is calculated on the rent that applies 
at the end of each reporting period. At this point, the liability is adjusted by a corresponding adjust-
ment of the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset. Correspondingly, the value of the liability and 
asset is adjusted  in connection with  the reassessment  of the lease term.   This is done in connection 
with the last termination date within the previously assessed lease period for premises leases having 
passed or when significant events occur, or circumstances change   in a way that is within the Group’s 
control and affects the current assessment of the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets, which do not meet the definition for management phases, and 
lease liabilities as own items in the financial position report.

For leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less or with an underlying asset of low value, less 
than SEK 50 thousand, no right-of-use asset and lease liability are recognized . Lease payments for 
these leases are recognized as costs over the lease term.

(m) Financial income and expenses
The Group’s financial income and expenses include:
– Interest received
– Interest expenses
– Dividends
– foreign exchange gains/losses on financial assets and financial liabilities.
– write-downs (and reversals) of debt instruments valued at amortized cost

Interest income or expenses are recognized according to the effective interest rate method.  Dividends 
are reported in earnings as of the date on which the Group’s right to payment is determined.
 

The effective interest rate is the rate that accurately discounts the estimated future receipts and dis-
bursements over the expected maturity of the financial instrument to:
– the gross value  of  the financial asset, or
– the accrued cost of the financial liability.

Interest income and expenses are calculated by applying the effective interest rate method to the gross 
carrying amount  of the  asset (when the asset not is impaired) or at the accrued cost of  the financial 
liability.  For financial assets that have become  impaired after the first accounting date, interest in-
come is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial  asset.   
If the asset is no longer degraded, interest income  is recalculated  by applying the impact rate to the 
gross carrying amount.

(n) Taxes
Income taxes consist of current tax and deferred tax.  Income taxes are recognized in profit  for the year  
except where the underlying transaction is reported in other comprehensive income or in equity, 
whereby the associated tax effect is recognized in other comprehensive income or in  equity.

Current tax is tax payable or received in respect of the current year, applying the tax rates that are de-
cided or in practice decided at the balance sheet date. The current tax also includes the adjustment of 
the current tax attributable to previous taxes. The current tax is based on the best estimate of taxes that 
will be paid or received and includes any uncertainties regarding tax handling. Current tax also in-
cludes any tax attributable to dividends.

Deferred tax is calculated according to the balance sheet method based on temporary differences 
between carrying and tax values  of assets and liabilities.  Temporary differences are  not taken into 
account in consolidated goodwill   , nor for differences  that arise in the  initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities that are not  business combinations as in the case of:  the timing of  the transaction does  not 
affect either reported or taxable profit or loss. Furthermore, temporary differences attributable to 
shares in subsidiaries and associates that are not expected to be reversed in the foreseeable future are 
also not taken into account.  The valuation of deferred tax is based on how underlying assets or liabil-
ities are expected to be realized or regulated. Deferred tax is calculated by applying the rates and tax 
rules that are decided or effectively decided at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets relating to deductible temporary differences and loss deductions are recognized 
only to the extent that it is likely that they will be exploitable. The value of deferred tax assets is reduced 
when they are no longer considered likely to be exploitable.
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Any additional income tax arising from  dividends is recognized at the same time as when the dividend 
is recognized as a liability.

(o) Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement
Accounts receivable and  issued debt instruments are  accounted for when they are issued.  Other fi-
nancial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the instru-
ment’s contractual terms.

A financial asset (with the  exception  of accounts receivable that do not have a significant financing 
component) or financial balance is, at the time of initial recognition, measured at fair value plus, in the 
case of financial instruments that are  not measured at: fair value through earnings, transaction costs 
directly   attributable to the  acquisition or issue.  An accounts receivable without a significant financial 
component is valued at the transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent valuation Financial assets
At the time of initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized acquisition 
value; fair value via other comprehensive income – debt instrument investment; fair value via other 
comprehensive income – equity investment; or fair value via earnings. All financial assets are valued at 
amortized value. This is because they are held within the framework of a business model whose objec-
tive is to obtain the contractual cash flows while the cash flows from the assets consist only of pay-
ments of principal and interest.

Financial assets are not reclassified after the first accounting session except if the group changes its 
business model for the  management of the financial assets, in which case all relevant financial assets

The subsequent valuation of  these assets is made  at  amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. The accrued cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment losses are recognized in earnings. Gains or losses arising from book-offs 
are recognized in earnings.

Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses Financial liabili-
ties are classified either as valued at   amortized cost or fair value via the income statement. The 
Group’s earn-out liabilities related to business combinations are recognised at  fair value through the 
income statement.  Other financial liabilities are recognized  at the  amortized an-

 
pantry value. Financial liabilities measured at fair value through earnings are measured at fair value 
and net gains and losses, including interest expense, are recognized in earnings. Subsequent valuation 
of other financial liabilities is made  at up to the cost using  the effective interest rate method.  Interest 
costs and foreign exchange gains and losses are recorded in the result. Gains or losses on removal 
from accounting are also recognized in earnings.

(iii) Write-downs – expected credit benefits
Move About recognizes reserves for expected credit losses on financial assets valued at amortized 
cost.  The loss reserve for trade receivables is valued at an amount equal to the expected credit losses 
for the entire life of the claim.

The impairment needs of   accounts receivable are determined based on historical experience of bad 
debt losses on similar receivables.  Credit losses are valued as the  present value of all cash deficits in 
one (i.e. the difference between the cash flows under the agreement and the cash flow that the Group 
expects to receive).   Normally, accounts receivable is written down by   100% at 180 days after maturi-
ty as this, according to Move About’s assessment, corresponds to the expected credit loss at this time.

The loss reserve reduces the value of assets in the statement of  financial position.

(iv) Removal from the statement of  financial position (cancellation) Financial assets
The Group removes a financial asset from the statement of financial position when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset cease or if it transfers the right to receive  the contrac-
tual assa flows through a transaction in which, in material respects, all the risks and  benefits of:  own-
ership has been transferred or in which the  group does not transfer or retain in material respect all the 
risks and benefits of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters transactions in which it transfers assets recorded in the statement   of financial posi-
tion, but retains all or, in material respects, all the risks and benefits associated with the assets trans-
ferred. In those cases, the transferred assets are not removed from accounting.

Financial liabilities
The Group books off a financial liability from the statement of financial position when the commit-
ments specified in the agreement are fulfilled, cancelled or terminated.  The Group  also books off a 
financial liability when  the contractual terms are  modified and the cash flows from the modified debt 
are substantially different.  In that case, a new financial liability  is recognized at  fair value based on the 
modified terms
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When a financial liability is booked off,  the difference between the carrying amount that has been re-
moved and the consideration paid  (including transferred non-monetary assets or assumed liabilities) 
is recognized in the result.

(v) Offset
Financial assets and financial liabilities should be offset and accounted for with a net amount in the 
statement of  financial position only when the  group has a legal right to offset the amounts recognized  
and intends to settle the items with a net amount or to simultaneously realize the asset and settle the 
debt.

(p) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Owned assets
Property, plant and equipment is reported in the Group at cost after deduction of accumulated depre-
ciation and any impairment losses. The cost includes the purchase price and expenditure  directly at-
tributable to the  asset  to bring it into   place and in condition to  be used in accordance with the pur-
pose of the acquisition. Accounting policies for impairment are set out below.

The carrying amount of  an item of property, plant and equipment is removed from the statement  of  
financial position upon disposal or disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
the use or disposal/disposal of the asset.  The gain or loss  arising from the disposal or disposal  of an 
asset shall be the difference between the selling price and the carrying amount of the asset less direct 
selling costs. Profit and loss are recognized as other operating income/expense.

(ii) Additional expenses
   Additional expenditure is added to the cost only if it is likely that the future financial  benefits  asso-
ciated with the asset will  benefit the enterprise and the acquisition value can be calculated reliably. All 
other additional expenses are recognized as an expense in the period in which they occur. Repairs are 
expensed on an ongoing basis.

(iv) Principles of depreciation
Depreciation occurs on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, land is not de-
preciated. Leased assets are also written off over the estimated useful life or, if shorter, over the agreed 
lease term.  The Group applies component depreciation, which means that  the  estimated useful life 
of the components is the basis for depreciation.

Estimated useful lives;
- machinery and other technical facilities 5 years
- fixtures, tools and installations 5 years

Depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives used  are reassessed at the end  of each year. 

(q) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to 
cash-generating units and is tested at least annually for impairment needs. Goodwill arising from ac-
quisitions of associates is included in the recognized value of shares in associates .

(ii) Research and development
Expenditure on research aimed at obtaining new scientific or technical knowledge is recognized as an 
expense when it is incurred.

 Expenditure on development, where research results or other knowledge is applied to  achieve new or 
improved products or processes, is recognized as an asset in the statement of financial position, if the 
product or process is technically and commercially useful and the enterprise has:  sufficient resources 
to pursue the development and subsequently use or sell the intangible asset.  Carrying amount in-
cludes all directly attributable expenses; e.g., materials and services, employee benefits, registration of 
a legal right, write-off of patents and licenses, loan expenses pursuant to  IAS 23.  Other development 
expenses   are recognized in  the profit or loss for the year as an expense when they are incurred.  In the 
statement of  financial position reported development expenses are recorded  at cost less accumulat-
ed depreciation and any impairment losses.

(iii) Customer relationships
Fair value of customer relationships is determined based on estimated future cash flows from agree-
ments with existing customers. Customer relationships are written off linearly over their estimated 
useful lives.

(iv) Additional expenses
Additional expenditure on   capitalized assets is recognized as an asset in the statement of  financial 
position only when it increases the future economic benefits of the specific asset  to which they relate. 
All other expenses are expensed as they arise.
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(vi)  Depreciation policies
Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss for the year on a straight-line basis over the estimated use-
ful life of intangible assets,  unless  such useful lives are indeterminate.  Useful lives are reviewed at 
least annually.  Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or not yet ready for 
use are tested for impairment annually and, moreover, as soon as indications arise indicating that the 
asset in question has decreased in value. Intangible assets with determinable new market periods are 
depreciated from the time they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are:
- balanced development expenses and customer relationships 5 years

(r) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, right-of-use as-
sets and interests in associates
If  there is an indication of impairment, the  recoverable amount of the asset is calculated (see below). 
In addition  , for goodwill, other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not 
yet ready for use, recoverable amount is calculated annually. If it is not possible to determine substan-
tially independent cash flows for an individual asset, and its fair value less point-of-sale costs cannot  
be used, the  assets are grouped for the purposes of  examining: impairment to the lowest level at 
which it is possible to identify substantially independent cash flows – a so-called cash-making  unit.

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (group 
of units)   exceeds recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognized as an expense in profit  for 
the year.  Where impairment needs are identified for a cash-generating unit (based on units), the 
amount of the impairment loss is primarily allocated to goodwill. After that, a proportional write-down 
of the other assets that are part of the unit (group of units) is made. Recoverable amount is the higher 
of fair value minus sales costs and value in use.  When calculating  the value in use,  future cash flows  
are  discounted by a discount factor that takes into account the risk-free interest rate and the risk as-
sociated with the specific asset.

When calculating the recoverable amount  of cash-generating units  containing leased assets, the 
choice has been made to subtract future leasing payments from the expected cash flows.  The right-
of-use assets are included in the carrying amount of the unit  .  To  obtain a carrying amount  of the unit 
that is consistent with the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced by the  
unit’s lease liability.  With this approach,  the leases are managed as part  of the  movement, rather
than as financing, with the effect that the discount rate is calculated as a weighted average of the re-
turn requirement on equity and borrowed capital, where lease debt is not included in the borrowed 
capital.

Reversal of impairment
An impairment loss is reversed if there is both an indication that the need for impairment no longer 
exists and there has been a change in the assumptions underlying the calculation of recoverable 
amount. However, impairment of goodwill is never reversed. A reversal is made only to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the asset after reversal does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been recognized,  less  depreciation where   relevant, in the absence of  impairment.

(s) Inventories
Inventories are valued at  the lower of the net realizable value and the net realizable value.  The acqui-
sition value of inventories is calculated by applying the first-in, first-out (FIFU) method and includes 
expenses incurred in acquiring the inventory assets and transporting them to their present location 
and condition. For manufactured goods and work in progress, cost includes a reasonable proportion 
of indirect costs based on normal capacity.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in operating activities, after deducting estimated 
completion costs and for achieving a sale

(t) Payment of capital to the owners
(i) Repurchase of own shares
Acquisitions of own shares are recognized as a deduction item from equity.  Proceeds from the dispos-
al of such equity instruments are recognized as an increase in equity. Any transaction costs are recog-
nized directly in equity.

(ii) Dividends
Dividends are recognized as liabilities after the  Annual General Meeting has approved the dividend.

(u)  Earnings per share
The calculation of basic  earnings per share  is based on  the group’s profit for the year   attributable to 
the parent company’s owners and on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
year. When calculating   diluted earnings per share, earnings and the average number of shares are   
adjustedto take into account  the effects of potential ordinary shares, which during reported periods 
are derived from options issued to employees.  The dilution from the  options is based on a calculation 
of how many shares could hypothetically have been purchased during the period with the exercise 
price and the value of residual  services in accordance with IFRS 2 Equity Compensation.  The shares 
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that could not have been purchased  lead to dilution.  Furthermore, the number of options, and there-
by shares, that would be vested if the degree of fulfillment of the  vesting conditions that exist at the 
end of the current  period would also be included. exist at the end of the vesting period. Potential or-
dinary shares are viewed as dilutive only during periods when it results in lower  earnings or greater 
loss per share.

(v) Employee benefits  

(i) Short-term remuneration
Short-term employee benefits are calculated without discounting and are recognized as an expense 
when the related services are received.

A provision is recognized for the expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments when the Group 
has an applicable legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of the receipt of 
services from employees and the obligation can be calculated reliably.

(ii) Defined contribution pension plans
Defined contribution pension plans classify those plans in which the  enterprise’s obligation is limited 
to the contributions the  enterprise has committed  to pay.  In such a case, the  amount of  the employ-
ee’s pension depends on the contributions paid by the company to the plan or to an insurance com-
pany and the capital return provided by the  contributions.  Consequently, it is the employee who 
bears the actuarial risk (that the remuneration will be lower than expected) and the investment risk 
(that the invested assets will be insufficient to provide the expected remuneration). The enterprise’s 
obligations regarding contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an expense in  
profit  for the year at  the rate at which they are earned by  employees performing services for the en-
terprise over a period of time.

(v) Termination  benefits
An expense for employee layoffs is recognized at the earliest time when the enterprise is no longer able 
to withdraw the offer to employees or when the enterprise recognizes restructuring costs. The remu-
neration, which is expected to be settled after twelve months, is reported at its present value. Benefits 
that are not expected to be fully settled within twelve months are recognized under long-term benefits.
 

(vi) Share-based remuneration
An option program enables employees to acquire shares in the company. The fair value of assigned 
options is recognized as an personnel expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The fair value 

is calculated at the time of allotment and is distributed over the vesting period. The fair value of the 
options allotted  is calculated using the Black-Scholes model and takes into account  market and 
non-vesting conditions and the conditions in force at the time of allotment. The expense recognized 
corresponds to the fair value of an estimate of the number of options expected to be vested, taking into 
account service conditions and performance conditions that are not market conditions.  This cost is 
adjusted in subsequent periods  to  ultimately reflect the true number of options vested. However, the 
adjustment does not take place when confiscation is only due to non-compliance with market condi-
tions and/or non-vesting conditions.

Social security contributions attributable to equity instruments to employees as remuneration for pur-
chased services are expensed by the persons during which the services are performed. The provision 
for social security contributions is based on the fair value of the options at the time of the report.

(x) Provisions
A provision  differs from other liabilities in that there is uncertainty about the time of payment or the  
amount of  the amount to  settle the provision.  A provision is recognized in  the statement of financial 
position when  there is an existing legal or constructive obligation as a result of an event that has oc-
curred,  and it is likely that: tt an outflow of financial resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
as well as a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Provisions are made with the amount that is the best estimate of what  is required to  settle the existing 
obligation at the balance sheet date. Where the effect of when in time payment is made is material, 
provisions are calculated by discounting the expected future cash flow at a pre-tax interest rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, if applicable, the risks associated 
with the liability.

(y) Contingent liabilities
Disclosure of contingent liabilities is made when there is a possible commitment arising from  events 
that have occurred and the existence of which  is confirmed only by one or more uncertain future 
events outside the group’s control or when there is a commitment that is not recognized as a liability 
or a liability.  because of this, it is unlikely that an outflow of resources will be required or cannot be 
counted with sufficient reliability.
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You are what you drive.  
Climate-smart mobility.
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NOT 02 //   REVENUE

Revenues 
The Group generates revenue primarily from car breeding through new mobility solutions

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Car breeding through mobility solutions 44 009 26 574

Total net sales 44 009 26 574

Distribution of revenue from contracts with customers
The distribution of revenue from contracts with main geographic markets, major product and service areas, 
and timing of revenue recognition are summarized below. The Group’s operations consist of one operating 
segment, i.e. the business consists of a business that generates revenue and generates costs and whose op-
erating profit is reviewed by the company’s highest executive decision-makers as a basis for monitoring re-
sults and allocating resources.   

Group

1 january – 31 december 2021 2020

Tkr
Geographic market:

Norway 13 355 7 012

Sweden 20 915 19 562

Germany 9 739  -   

 Timing of revenue recognition

Goods and services reported  over time  44 009  26 574 

Total Revenue from contracts with customers  44 009  26 574 

NOT 03 //   OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Government grants  800  1 093 

Profit on the sale of fixed assets  63  43 

Rental income  135  196 

Other  2 571  2 283 

 3 569  3 615 

  

NOT 04 //   OTHER EXTERNAL COSTS 

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Consulting and accounting  16 212  5 757 

Office and IT costs  5 638  1 716 

Marketing  2 373  1 192 

Other  5 400  1 088 

 29 623  9 753 
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NOT 05 //   EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL COSTS AND MANAGEMENT
EXECUTIVES’ ALLOWANCES  

Employee benefits

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Salaries and other allowances  22 269  8 306 

Share-related compensation  2 055  1 425 

Pension costs, defined contribution plans  685  200 

Social fees  1 798  1 619 

 26 807  11 550 

Defined contribution pension plans
In Sweden, Germany and Norway,  the Group has defined contribution pension plans for employees that are 
fully paid for by the companies. Payment to these plans is made on an ongoing basis according to the rules in 
each plan.  

Average number of employees
  

Group 2021 share
men 2020 share 

men

Sweden 25 21 21 20

Norway 11 9 2,5 2,5

Germany 12 10  -    -   

Group total 48 83 % 23,5 96 %
 
 

 
Gender balance in management

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Proportion of

women
Proportion of 

women

Group total  

Boards 25 % 0 %

Other senior executives 0 % 0 %

Salaries and other remuneration, pension costs and pension obligations for senior executives in 
the Group

2021 2020

Group
Senior 

management
Senior 

management

Tkr
Salaries and other allowances  5 404  4 299 

Pension  50  30 

Total  5 454  4 329 

Jarle Frøshaug (Senior Advisors Move About AS)  1 368  936 

Erik Nordenfelt (CTO Move About Technology AB)  1 536  1 289 

Mikael Kilter (VD Move About AB)  -    1 074 

Morten Von Krogh (VD Move About AS)  1 326  1 030 

Bent Fossum (CFO Move About AS)  1 224  -   

Total  5 454  4 329 

No remuneration has been paid as salary to persons with senior positions (i.e. the Board of Directors or the  
CEO).  Invoicing has been done from own companies regarding these remunerations.  See also note  19. 
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Share-based remuneration
Share options in Move About AS were allotted to key employees and board members at the time  of issuance in 
December 2020. The allotted options are issued in 3 different tranches (parts), with different vesting and exer-
cise prices, with the distribution 30%, 35% and 35% in tranche 1, tranche 2 and tranche 3 respectively.  The 
share options can be exercised upon vesting, however,  unexercised share options can be exercised at the next 
allotment of tranche, but no later than 6 months after vesting  tranche 3.  The share options within tranche 1 are 
vested in full  upon allotment, tranche 2 vests 1 year after allotment and tranche 3 vests 2 years after allotment.  
The issued options have a total maturity  of 2.5 years, i.e. 6 months after vesting  tranche 3.  The exercise price 
for the share options in tranche 1 is SEK 206 per share, in tranche SEK   2,247 per share  and in tranche SEK  3,296 
per share.
  
The assigned options can be exercised only if the holder is an employee or engaged in the company.  In cer-
tain situations where the Company is acquired and a significant ownership concentration occurs as a conse-
quence, this will accelerate the vesting of remaining outstanding options. In the event that dividends are to 
occur, the strike prices will be adjusted. The company has the right to settle the options in cash when the 
holder of the option wishes to exercise it.  The options have been granted to 21 employees within Move 
About AS and its subsidiaries as well as 6 board members and an external party. 50% of the shares issued 
upon exercise of vested options can be disposed of by the holder immediately upon share issue and the re-
maining 50% can be disposed of by the holder immediately upon share issue and the remaining 50% can  
disposed of before 36 months after exercise of the option.    
 

Equity-related expenses 2021 2020

Tkr
Options program  2 239  1 245 

Accrued social costs -184  180 

Reported as personnel costs  2 055  1 425 

Reconciliation of outstanding options 

2021 2020

Number of 
share 

options

Average 
strike price 

SEK/share 
Number of 

shares WAEP
Outstanding Options January 1st  17 670 - - -

Allotted during the year  -    -   17 670 251,85

Forfeited during the year  17 670  253 - -

Exercised during the year - - - -

Maturing during the year  -   - - -

Outstanding options December 31st - - 17 670 -
In % of number of outstanding 0 % - 14 %

Redeemable options as of December 31  -   253 5 301 206
 

Weighted Average strike price for stock options for 31 December 2020 where SEC 252 to SEC 296. Average re-
maining Maturity on outstanding stock options; for 31 December 2020 Amounted to 2,46 year. 
  
At the end of  2020, the weighted average exercise price of  callable options was SEK  206.

At the board meeting on 07.09.21, it was decided to cancel the  ongoing option program.  The decision was 
made in consultation with the program participants and entails a non-cash  impacting salary cost amounting 
to SEK  4.1 million.
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Valuation stock options
The fair value of allotted options has been calculated at SEK 3472 thousand excluding social costs. The cal-
culation of the theoretical value of these options has been developed using the Black-Scholes option valua-
tion model.

The basis of valuation includes several factors that affect the calculated fair value of assigned options. The 
following assumptions were used for the calculation: 

December 2020

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3
Price at the award date SEK 403 SEK 403 SEK 403

Strike price SEK 206 SEK 247 SEK 296

Tilldelningsdag 01.12.2020 01.12.2020 01.12.2020

Maturity (years) 1,25 1,75 2,25

Risk-free interest rate 0,06 % 0,19 % 0,19 %

Volatilitet 60 % 60 % 60 %

Estimated fair value per option SEK 213 SEK 197 SEK 182

Since there is no history available regarding patterns of redemption, as this is the  company’s first option 
program, half of  the  period from vesting to maturity has been considered a   good estimate to be used in 
calculating the fair value of stock options.

In this valuation, we use the 1-year Norwegian government bond as of December  1, 2020 for tranche 1.  For 
tranche 2 and 3, both of which are relatively close to two-year maturities, we use an estimated interest rate.  
Since there is no 2-year listed bond, we have interpolated between 1- and 3-year bonds.

Since Move About’s shares are unlisted, there is no historical data on the volatility  of stock trading.  As an 
alternative approach,  volatility factors for a group of               comparable companies, which are listed, have 
been analyzed based on their trading history and this has been used in estimating volatility.  For Move About, 
there are a limited number of comparable listed companies and consequently the assessment uncertainty is 
considered to be high.         
   

Sensitivity analysis
Sensitivity regard Applied volatility are as Follows:

Volatility Slice 1 Slice 2 Slice 3

50 % 207 184 164

55 % 209 190 173

60 % 213 197 182

65 % 217 203 191

70 % 221 209 200

75 % 225 215 209

NOT 06 //  FEES AND REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES TO AUDITORS  

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Auditing 1 052 758

Other services 1 492  37 

2 544  795 

Audit assignments refer to statutory audits of the annual and consolidated financial statements and ac-
counting, as well as the administration of the Board of Directors and the CEO, as well as audits and other 
audits carried out in accordance with agreement or agreement.  This includes other duties that it is the re-
sponsibility of  the company’s auditor to perform as well as advice or other assistance that is prompted by 
observations in such review or the implementation of such other tasks.   
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NOT 07 //  TAXES  

Carrying amount in Report above result and Other total result

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Tax  -    -   

Deferred tax expense (+) / revenue (-)  -    -   

 -    -   

Total reported tax expense in the Group  -    -   

Reconciliation of effective tax
  

Group 2021 (%) 2021 2020 (%) 2020
Profit before tax -46 957 -9 890 

Tax at the applicable rate of the parent company 20,60 % -9 673 21,4 % -2 116 

Effect of other tax rates for foreign group companies 
(Norway) 1,40 % -376 0,60 % -40 

Effect of other tax rates on foreign group companies 
(Germany) 9,40 % -466 - -

Effect of translation of deferred tax assets for foreign 
group companies -7,17 %  3 369 -7,17 %  710 

Non-deductible expenses -0,33 %  156 -0,33 %  33 

Other -0,48 %  223 -0,48 %  47 
Increase in deficit deductions without corresponding
activation of deferred tax; -13,82 %  6 491 -13,82 %  1 367 

Reported effective tax 0,00 %  -   0,00 %  -   
 

 Tax attributable to other comprehensive income
  

Group 2021 2020
Before 
taxes Tax After 

taxes
Before 
taxes Tax After 

taxes

Tkr
translation differences for the year in the 
translation of foreign operations -446 0 -446 800 0 800

Other comprehensive income 467 0 467 800 0 800

Carrying amount i Report above financial position

Not Carrying Deferred tax
Deductible temporary differences and tax loss deductions for which deferred tax assets have not been 
recognized in the statement of financial position.   

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Deductible temporary differences  6 425  4 630 

Tax deficits 98 051  55 986 

104 476  60 616 

 Unaccounted deferred tax assets  21 522  13 168 
 

Change in tax rate
As of January 1, 2019, the tax rate in Sweden is 21.4% for companies with financial years starting January 1, 
2019 or later.  The tax rate will be reduced to 20.6% for fiscal years  beginning on or after January 1,  2021.
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NOT 08 //  EARNINGS PER SHARE  

The   denominator in the calculation of pro forma earnings per share for each period presented  is the num-
ber of  shares issued at the effective date of the prospectus which includes these combined financial state-
ments.

 Pro forma earnings per share after dilution are the same as pro forma earnings per share before dilution for 
the presented periods.

Presented data for earnings per share constitute pro forma and should not be viewed as historical informa-
tion.  

Pro forma earnings per shares are calculated by dividing:
Profit attributable to parent company shareholders by the number of ordinary shares excluded at the time of 
the prospectus publishing date.   

2021 2020
Yearly profit  attributable to parent company shareholders -46 164 -9 089 

Number of ordinary shares  24 927 100  20 127 100 

Earnings per share before and after dilution -1,85 -0,45 

No dilution occurs when profit for the year is negative

NOT 09 //  IMMATERIELLA ANLÄGGNINGSTILLGÅNGAR  

Internt utvecklade immateriella tillgångar och goodwill
   

Koncernen
Utveck-lings-  

utgifter Goodwill
Kund- 

relationer Totalt
Tkr

Ackumulerade anskaffningsvärden
Ingående balans 2020-01-01  2 404  -    -    2 404 

Utgående balans 2020-12-31  2 404  -    -    2 404 

Ingående balans 2021-01-01  2 404  -    -    2 404 

Rörelseförvärv  -    39 776  2 223  39 776 

Omräkningsdifferens valuta  -    440  25  440 

Utgående balans 2021-12-31  2 404  40 216  2 248  44 868 

Ackumulerade av- och nedskrivningar
Ingående balans 2020-01-01  663  -    -    663 

Årets avskrivningar  -433  -    -    -433 

Utgående balans 2020-12-31  1 097  -    -    1 097 

Ingående balans 2021-01-01  1 097  -    -    1 097 

Årets avskrivningar -561  -    -243  -804 

Utgående balans 2021-12-31  1 658  -    243  1 901 

Redovisade värden
Per 2020-01-01  1 740  -    -    1 740 

Per 2020-12-31  1 307  -    -    1 307 

Per 2021-01-01  1 307  -    -    1 307 

Per 2021-12-31  982  40 216  2 005  43 202 

NOT 09 //  INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS  

Internally Developed Intellectual property assets and goodwill
   

Group
Development 

expenses Goodwill
Customer 
relations Total

Tkr
Accumulated cost
Opening balance 2020-01-01  2 404  -    -    2 404 
Closing balance 2020-12-31  2 404  -    -    2 404 

Opening balance 2021-01-01  2 404  -    -    2 404 
Business acquisition  -    39 776  2 223  39 776 
Conversion difference currency  -    440  25  440 
Closing balance 2021-12-31  2 404  40 216  2 248  44 868 

Acc. depreciation and amortization
Opening balance 2020-01-01  663  -    -    663 
Depreciation for the year  -433  -    -    -433 
Closing balance 2020-12-31  1 097  -    -    1 097 

Opening balance 2021-01-01  1 097  -    -    1 097 
Depreciation for the year -561  -    -243  -804 
Closing balance 2021-12-31  1 658  -    243  1 901 

Carrying values
For 2020-01-01  1 740  -    -    1 740 
For 2020-12-31  1 307  -    -    1 307 

For 2021-01-01  1 307  -    -    1 307 
For 2021-12-31  982  40 216  2 005  43 202 

Development expenses include the  development of the platform used   to rent cars and manage the payment 
of rent. The examination of impairment requirements for intangible assets will take place annually, and when 
there are indications that there is a need for impairment. 

Detailed description of   goodwill assumptions  used

WAAC IRR Long term growth rate

14,40 % 34,60 % 0 %
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NOT 10 //  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
   

Group
Equipment, tools 
and installations Total

Tkr
Cost

Opening balance 1 january 2020 289 289

Acquisition  8 8

Closing balance 31 December 2020  297 297

Opening balance 1 January 2021 297 297

Acquisition  6 874 6874

Closing balance 31 December 2021  7 163 7163

Depreciation

Opening balance 1 January 2020 45 45

Depreciation for the year 54 54

Disposals  10 10

Closing balance 31 December 2020 89 89

    

Opening balance 1 January 2021 45 45

Depreciation for the year -647 -647

Disposals -10 -10

Closing balance 31 December 2021 682 682

Carrying values

1 january 2020 244 244

31 december 2020 208 208

1 january 2021 208 208

31 december 2021 6208 6208

NOT 11 //  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
   

Koncernen 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Tkr

The following are included in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and bank balances  5 851 981

Total according to the report on financial position and  5 851 981

Offered bank deposits are 384 TSEK for 2021 and 375 TSEK for 2020



48ANNUAL REPORT  2021  

ANNUAL REPORT 2021  

NOT 12 //  EQUITY  

Types of shares
The   total number of outstanding shares in Move About Group AB as of the balance sheet date amounts to  
24,927,100 at  a nominal value of SEK 100 per share.   All issued shares are fully paid.  Mova About Group AB has a 
class of shares, ordinary shares, with equal rights for all shares. Owners of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends 
and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve includes all exchange differences arising from the translation of financial statements from 
foreign entities that have prepared their financial statements in a currency other than the currency in which the 
consolidated financial statements are presented. The Parent Company and the Group present their financial re-
ports in Swedish kronor. Furthermore, the translation reserve consists of exchange differences arising from the 
revaluation of liabilities recorded as hedging instruments of a net investment in a foreign activity.

    

NOT 13 //  INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES  

The following sets out information on the contractual terms of the enterprise regarding interest-bearing lia-
bilities.  For more information on the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and   exchange rate risk , see  
Note 18    

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Long-term liabilities

Bank loans  500  1 307 

Leasing debt  31 330  7 573 

 31 830  8 880 

Current liabilities

Short-term part of bank loans 750  854 

Convertible loan 11 516  -   

Short-term portion of lease liabilities 21 435  9 644 

33 701  10 498 

Terms and refund periods
Terms and refund periods see table below.

2021 2020

Tkr
Cur-

rency
Name. 

rta Decay Name
value

Orders
value

Name
value

Orders
value

Bank loans  SEK 4,05 30.05.2023  -    -    161 

Bank loans  SEK 5,32 30.08.2022  -    1 250  -    2 000 

Convertible loan  SEK  -   31.03.2021  -   11 516  -    -   

Leasing debt  SEK 
 

floating 
 *See not 

17 Leasing  -   52 765  -    57 354 

Total 65 531  59 515 
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NOT 14 //  OTHER LIABILITIES 
   

Group 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Tkr
Other long term liabilities

Loans from shareholders  -    -   

 -    -   

Other current liabilities

Accrued wages, holiday pay and witholding tax  1 830  1 341 

Accrued social costs  1 268  916 

Other current liabilities 23 531  1 904 

Total other current liabilities 26 629  4 162 

NOT 15 //   APPRAISAL OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND DEBTS TO FAIR VALUE AND 
CATEGORISATION  

a) Classification and level in the value hierarchy Group

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Accounts receivables  19 734  3 947 

Other receivables  1 817  2 923 

Cash and cash equivalents  5 851  981 

Financial assets that are reported at amortization
acquisition value  27 402  7 851 

Bank and convertible loan 12 766  2 161 

Accounts payable  20 098  5 618 

Financial liabilities that are recognized as accrued
acquisition value 32 864 7 779

The carrying amount  of trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents  , lease liabilities, 
accounts payable and other liabilities constitute a reasonable approximation of fair value because they are 
short-term, or relate to:  to floating rate liabilities where there have been no material changes in market rates 
since the date of admission.

The Group has no financial instruments that are measured at  fair value.
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NOT 16 //  FINANCIAL RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

Through  its operations, the Group is exposed to various types of financial risks.
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

 Financial risk management framework
The Group’s finance policy for managing  financial risks has been designed by the Board of Directors and 
forms a framework of guidelines and rules in the form of risk mandates and limits for financial operations. 
Responsibility for the Group’s financial transactions and risks is managed centrally by the  Group’s financial 
function, which is located within the parent company. The overall objective of the finance function is to pro-
vide cost-effective financing and to minimize negative effects on the Group’s earnings arising from market 
risks.  The Group accounting manager is responsible for the central finance function and reports to the Group 
CFO on an ongoing basis.

Liquidity risk
The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may have problems fulfilling its obligations associated with fina-
cial liabilities.  The Group has a rolling   12-month  liquidity planning that covers  all of the Group’s units. The 
planning is updated every week. The Group’s forecasts covering 3 years include liquidity planning for the 
medium term.  Liquidity planning is used  to manage liquidity risk and the  costs  of  financing the Group.  The 
goal is for the Group  to  be able to claw its financial commitments in ups and downs without significant un-
foreseeable costs and without risking  the Group’s reputation.  

The Group’s policy is to minimize borrowing needs by  using excess liquidity within the  Group through cash 
pools established by the Central Finance Department. Liquidity risks are managed centrally for the entire 
Group by the central finance department. According to the financial policy, there should always be enough 
cash and guaranteed credits to cover the liquidity needs of the next 12 months. In addition, the maturity of 
financial liabilities has been spread over time to limit liquidity risk.  The company will  raise  funds through an 
issue or  other financial instruments if necessary.

Credit facilities Nominally Name, Mkr Utilized Available

Available cash and cash equivalents 5851

Liquidity reserve 5851
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Group 2021

Tkr Currency Tot <1 month <1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years

Bank loans SEK  1 250  -    750  500  -    -   

Accounts payable SEK  20 098  20 098  -    -    -    -   

Leasing debt SEK/NOK  52 765  -   21 435  16 455  14 875  -   

Sum  74 113  20 098 22 185  16 955  14 875  -   

2020

Tkr Currency Tot <1 month <1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years

Bank loans SEK  2 250  750  750  750  -   

Convertible loans NOK  858    -    858    -    -    -   

Accounts payable SEK, NOK  3 787  3 787  -    -    -    -   

Leasing debt SEK, NOK  18 867  -    8 165  6 699  4 003  -   

Sum 25 762  3 787 9 773  7 449  4 753  -   

Maturity structure of financial liabilities – undiscounted cash flows

Market risk
Market risk is that the risk of   fair value  or future cash flows from a financial instrument fluctuating due to 
changes in market prices. Market risks are divided by IFRS into three types, currency risk, interest rate risk and 
other price risks.  The market risks that primarily affect the Group consist of interest rate risks and currency 
risks The Group’s objective is to manage and control market risks within established parameters and at the 
same time optimize an impact on the consolidated Result.  

The result of risk-taking within given frameworks.  The parameters are set with the  aim that market risks in 
the  short term (6-12 months) should only have a marginal impact on the Group’s earnings and position. In 
the longer term, however, sustained changes in exchange rates, interest rates and electricity prices will  have 
an impact on  consolidated earnings.
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Interest rate risk      
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market in-
terest rates.  Interest rate risk can lead to changes in fair values and changes in cash flows.  A significant factor 
affecting interest rate risk is the fixed interest term. The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly from leasing 
and is managed by the central finance function.

Sensitivity analysis interest rates
The pass-through of interest income and interest expenses over the next twelve-month period in the event of  
an interest rate increase/decline of 1 percentage point on the balance sheet date amounts to +200 SEK/-200 
given the interest-bearing assets and liabilities available at the balance sheet date.

Currency risk
The risk that fair values and cash flows of financial instruments can fluctuate when the  value of foreign cur-
rencies changes is called currency risk. The Group is exposed to currency risk on transactions in the sense 
that there is a mix between the currencies in which sales, purchases, receivables and liabilities are notated 
and the respective functional currency of the group companies.  The functional currency for the Group com-
panies is primarily in SEK. The transactions are primarily made in the currencies SEK, NOK and EUR.

Sensitivity risk currency
  A 10% strengthening of the Norwegian krone  against other currencies as of  31 December 2021 would mean 
a change in equity   of  SEK -3,818 and in earnings of  -2  688SEK.  A 10% strengthening of the euro against 
other currencies as of  31 December 2021 would mean a change in equity   of  SEK -532 and in profit of SEK  
-496.  The sensitivity analysis is based  on the  fact that all other factors (e.g. the interest rate) remain un-
changed. The same conditions were applied for 2020.

Credit risk
The credit risk is the risk that a trade or counterparty in a financial instrument is unable to meet its commit-
ment, thereby causing the  Group a financial loss and arising mainly from the Group’s accounts receivable 
and investments in debt instruments.  The carrying amount of financial assets constitutes the maximum 
credit exposure.  Impairment losses of financial assets and contractual assets are recognized in earnings as 
follows.

 

2021 2020

Tkr

Write-downs of accounts receivable and contractual assets 
arising from contracts with customers  -    -   

Sum  -   

Credit risk in accounts receivables      
The Group’s credit risk exposure is mainly affected by each customer’s individual characteristics.  However, 
management considers the factors that may affect the credit risk of the customer base, including the risk of 
default associated with the industry and the country in which the customers operate. Data on the concentra-
tion of revenue are included in Note 2.  The Group has established a credit policy according to which each 
new customer is  individually analyzed for creditworthiness before the Group’s general payment and delivery 
terms are offered.  The Group’s review includes external credit ratings, if available, financial statements, and 
information from credit rating agencies.  The Group limits credit risk exposure from accounts receivable 
through prepayment of corporate customers with a 30-day  credit period.  Private customers pay in advance 
with cards through Stripe.

Reserve for feared credit losses
The Group has historically had minimal losses due to advance invoices to larger solid companies.  Provisions 
for losses are made on the basis of  individual assessments of the  age composition of  the client portfolio

Credit risk in cash and cash equivalents
The Group has cash and cash equivalents of SEK 5851 thousand on December 31, 2021 (2020: SEK 981 thou-
sand). For cash and cash equivalents, banks and financial institutions are counterparties. The Group has no 
risk regarding cash and cash equivalents other than financial institutions’ financial risk.
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Financial objectives      
According to the Board’s policy,  the Group’s financial objective is to have a good financial position, which 
contributes  to maintaining investor, creditor and market confidence and provides a basis for continued de-
velopment of the business; while at the same time providing the long-term return generated to shareholders 
is  satisfactory. Based on a trade-off between high equity returns, which benefit from small equity participa-
tion, and the need for financial stability, which is obtained through a large equity stake, the target for the net 
debt-to-equity ratio has been set at 0.5-0.8.   This is considered to be an optimal level, taking into account the 
risks that exist in the Group’s business operations.  The adjustment to this goal is   part  of the strategic plan-
ning and the  level of  the net debt/equity ratio is continuously monitored  in the internal reporting to the 
management team and the  Board of Directors.  Capital is defined as total equity.   
          
 
 
 

Capital 2021 2020
Total equity  12 434 -8 617 

Net debt ratio 2021 2020
Financial liabilities 74 113  22 055 

Less cash and cash equivalents  and short-term investments  5 851  981 

Net debt 68 262  21 074 

Net debt/equity ratio (Net debt / Total equity) 5,49 -2,45

The decrease in the net debt/equity ratio is due to an increase in net debt of 20%. The increase in net debt is 
due to  increased accounts payable, leasing costs and negative earnings in 2021.  New issues will be needed 
in the next few years. During the year, there was no change in the Group’s capital management.  Neither the 
parent company nor any of the subsidiaries are subject to external capital requirements.

NOT 17 //  LEASING AGREEMENTS 
    
Lease
The Group’s property, plant and equipment consists of both owned and  leased assets. 

Group 2021 2020

Tkr   

Property , plant and equipment  owned  6 208  208 

Right-of-use assets, excluding investment property  51 921  14 405 

 58 129 14 613

The group leases several types of assets including cars.  No lease contains covenants or other restrictions 
beyond the security of the leased asset.

Leased assets

Group Cars Property Sum

Tkr
Depreciation in 2021  16 838  1 326  18 164 

Closing balance 31 December 2021  36 802  15 119  51 921 

Depreciation in 2020  7 090  488  7 578 

Closing balance 31 December 2020  13 170  976  14 146 
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Leasing debt
Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Short term 21 435  9 644 

Long term  31 330  7 573 

Lease liabilities  included in the statement of financial 
position 52 765  17 217 

For maturity analysis of lease liabilities, see Note 16 Financial risks and risk management in the liquidity risk sec-
tion.

Amounts reported in profit or loss

Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  18 164  9 136 

Interest on lease liabilities  594  378 

Costs  for low-value  leases and short-term leasing  832  735 

 19 590 10 249

Amounts reported in the statement of cash flows 
Group 2021 2020

Tkr
Total cash outflows attributable to leasing agreements  18 964  10 299 

The above cash outflow includes both amounts for leases recognized as lease liabilities, as well as amounts 
that may look like in practice.
Property lease
The Group leases buildings and land for its office space.  The leases have a term of 3-10 years.
Vehicle lease
The Group leases vehicles with lease periods of three to five years.

NOT 18 //  SET COLLATERAL CONTINGENT OBLIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT 
ASSETS

The Group has issued  a corporate mortgage of TSEK 3,750 in 2021 and TSEK  3,750 in 2020.

NOT 19 //  RELATED PARTIES

Related parties  

 Summary of related party transactions

Group Year
Purchase of 

services from 
related parties

Debt to related 
parties as of  

December 31

Tkr

Related parties

Other related parties 2021  2 904  364 

Second related 2020  3 299  198 

Services are purchased for employment as general manager of Move About AS, Move About AB and Move 
About Technologies AB. Erik Nordenfelt (CEO Move About Technology AB) via his company Erik Nordenfelt 
AB (owns 14,702 shares), Mikael Kilter* (CEO Move About AB) via his company (Sustainable Actions AB) and 
Jarle Frøshaug (Senior advisor Move About as) via his company Aspector  Thincom AS (owns 6,569 shares). 
 Related party transactions  are priced on market terms.

*Mikael Kilter served as CEO Move About AB until Nov.  2020
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NOT 20 //   GROUP COMPANIES  

  

Name Registered office, country Ownership in %

2021  2020   

Mobileeee GmbH Frankfurt, Germany 72,8  -   

Mobileeee Btriebsgesellschaft & Co KG Frankfurt, Germany 100  -   

Move About Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt, Germany 100  -   

Move About AS Oslo, Norway 100 100

Mova About AB Gothenburg, Sweden 100 100

Move About Technology AB Gothenburg, Sweden 100 100

NOT 21 //   ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES 

Acquisition of subsidiary in Germany
Intangible assets  2 223 
property plant aisles  1 200 
Accounts receivable and other receivables  5 687 
Cash and cash equivalents  12 726 
Interest-bearing liabilities -13 105 
Leveratörsskulder -6 751 
Tax -1 343 
Net assets and liabilities  637 

 -   
 Non-controlling holdings -15 980 
Koncerngoodwill  39 776 
Net  24 433 

Operations
Cash and cash equivalents  11 634 
Andel i Move About AS  12 799 
Sum transaction prices  24 433 

On June 6, 2021,  the company acquired 27.8% of Mobileeee GmbH in Frankfurt am Main, Germany.  The ac-
quisition was made in cash and settled on June 6, 2021. In addition, the company acquired 32.7% of the 
shares on June 16, 2021 through a share exchange arrangement with shares in Move About AS for some key 
shareholders. As of June  16, 2021,  controlling influence for the company  will be obtained.  As of  this date, 
the finances of Mobileeee  are included in the consolidated financial statements and an acquisition analysis 
is prepared. As of July 17, the company acquired an additional 12% of the  company through an additional  
share exchange agreement with shares in Move About AS that ended with a 72.8% stake in the totalshares in 
the company

NOT 22 //   PROPOSED  APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT 

     

 
 PARENT COMPANY

THE  FOLLOWING EARNINGS (SEK THOUSAND) ARE AVAILABLE TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING:

Premium fund
Profit or loss balance -
Profit for the year -823
Crowns -823

The Board of Directors proposes that the profits be disposed of so that in a 
new account are transferred -823

-823
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NOT 23 //   CONTINUED OPERATION

The company is in a growth phase where the loss is in line with plans. This has given rise to a strained liquid-
ity situation for the company and thus uncertainty about the continued operation of the company.  In the 
unlikely event that this  should be the case,  it is important to note from the point  of view of risk that  in such 
a situation it cannot  be ruled out that the company’s assets and liabilities cannot be realized at book values. 
Management is working on specific plans to obtain sufficient financing for the company’s growth and opera-
tions, which is absolutely necessary for the continued operation of the company, this isto secure capital in-
jections in the form of convertible loans from existing  shareholders as well as via warrants. Management has 
also initiated an extensive efficiency program that is expected to have a full impact during the fourth quarter 
of 2022.  When these planned initiatives have been implemented, the Board’s assessment is that this is suffi-
cient to ensure continued operation of the company and thus ensure its future operations at least one year 
ahead in order to be able to present the financial statements with compliance with the principle of survival.

NOT 24 //   EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The company’s position has improved financially in 2022.

Capital raising and funding    
On  1 February 2022,  the Board of Directors resolved to  carry out a new issue of shares and warrants (so-
called units) prior to the Company’s listing on Nasdaq First North Growth Market.   A total of 4,800,000 units 
were  subscribed for and issued. The company’s share was admitted to trading on Nasdaq First North Growth 
Market with first trading on 23 February 2022.

The Board of Directors has also decided to carry out a directed share issue to a number of persons linked to 
the Company subject to  the approval of the Annual General Meeting.  Convertible bonds are issued at  a total 
nominal value  of  SEK 10,000,000
    
Other significant events
The Company has changed its CEO from Morten von Krogh to the Company’s current CEO, Olof Jonasson. 
The company has also changed CFO from Bent Fossum to Magnus Bergan.

The Board of Directors has therefore decided to adopt a framework for measures  to reduce costs and ensure  
profitable growth in the Company.  As  part of  the program, the organization will be simplified and the coun-
try managers in the  Group will be given  greater responsibility.  All subsidiaries are affected by  the action 
plan and 17 out of 40 positions within the Group will be discontinued. The action plan is expected to reach 
full effect towards the end of 2022 and is expected to lead to a significant reduction in the Company’s costs 
in 2023.
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NOT 25 //   KEY ESTIMATES    

Important assessments in the application of the Group’s accounting policies
Certain important accounting assessments made in the application of the Group’s accounting principles are 
described below.

Leasing agreements
Certain leases contain extension and termination options that the Group may exercise or not exercise up to 
one year before the end of the non-terminable lease term.  the occurrence of an important event or signifi-
cant changes in circumstances that are within the Group’s control and that affect whether it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will exercise (or not exercise) an option included in the original agreement.

Revenues
Move About’s revenue comes mainly from providing car-sharing services to both corporate and retail cus-
tomers.  Assessments have been made based on IFRS 16 if these agreements contain a lease agreement - the 
agreements entrust the right to the client to decide for a certain period on the use of a identified asset in ex-
change for remuneration - and thus should be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16. In order to assess 
whether a contract assigns the right to determine the use of an identified asset during a period of time, an 
enterprise shall assess whether the client is entitled, throughout the tenure period, to substantially all the 
economic benefits arising from the use of the identified asset, and the right to control the use of the identi-
fied asset.

Move   About’s assessment of its customer agreements is that they do not constitute leases as Move About 
has the practical possibility to replace the cars with other cars throughout the  lease period and Move About 
could  benefit financially from its right to replace the car.

Move About is thus not considered to  transfer the right to decide on the use of the cars.   However, future 
changes to  the customer agreements could  mean that these assessments need to be reconsidered and 
could then  lead to a different accounting.
 

Important sources  of uncertainties in estimates
The sources of uncertainties in estimates  listed below relate to those that involve a significant risk  that the 
value of assets or liabilities may need to be materially adjusted in the coming financial year.

Deferred tax asset
The deferred tax asset relating to loss relief is  capitalized to the extent that  it is likely that   the deductions 
can be offset against excess future taxation. Note 7 shows the Group’s inactivated losses. No losses have been 
activated.
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APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board of Directors and  the   CEO declare that the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden and the consolidated accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards  referred to in Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the  Council of  19 July 2002 on the application of internation-
al accounting standards.  The annual accounts and consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s position and results of operations. The management report of the Parent 
Company and the Group provides a fair overview of        the development of the  Parent Company’s and the  Group’s operations, position and results of operations and results  of  operations and  of the   com-
panies that are part of the group are facing. As stated above, the Annual Report  and consolidated accounts have  been approved for issuance by the  Board of Directors and the CEO on July 08, 2022.  The 
Group’s statement  of  income and other comprehensive income and the statement of  financial position and the parent company’s   income statement and balance sheet will be subject to determination at 
the Annual General Meeting   15 July 2022.

  Our audit report was submitted on 08 July 2022

Gothenburg, July  08, 2022

Olof Jonasson
ACTING GROUP CEO

Styrelsen

Morten Wiese
Chairperson

Reidar Langmo
Director

Bjørn E. A. Hviding
Director

Jessica Sparrfeldt
Director

Mathias Arvidsson
Authorized Public Accountant
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Morten Wiese
Chairman of the Board

Entrepreneur with over 25 years of interna-
tional experience as CEO and Chairman of the 
Board of a number of growth companies. 
Morten has extensive experience from several 
sectors such as IoT, Ad / Edtech, industry, re-
tail and vehicles. Morten was previously CEO 
of Electronic Tracking Systems and former 
head of business development at DEFA.

Morten is educated in marketing at the  
Norwegian Graduate School of Marketing in 
Oslo and in sociology at the University of Oslo.

Holdings in Move About: 
Morten holds 0 shares in Move About.

Chairman since: March 2020

Independent to the company 
leadership: Yes

Independent to the largest 
shareholders: Yes

Jessica Sparrfeldt
Board Member

Previous experience as Nordic Head of Cor-
porate at Collector Bank, Nordic Head of 
Business Finance at Avida Finans and Sales 
Manager and Head of Product Development 
at Marginalen Bank. Jessica has also been 
Chairman of the Board of Avida Inkasso 
Norge.

Jessica has a DIHM degree from IHM Business 
School, Project Management certificate from 
George Washington University and econom-
ics education at the FEI institute.

Holdings in Move About: 
Jessica holds 0 shares in Move About.

Board member since: August 2021

Independent to the company 
leadership: Yes

Independent to the largest 
shareholders: Yes

Reidar Langmo
Board Member

Reidar has a broad industrial background 
both from the oil and gas industry, and for the 
last 30 years his main focus has been on re-
newable energy and clean-tech. Reidar was 
one of the two founders of REC; the first fully 
integrated solar (PV) company in the world, 
and for many years also globally the largest 
PV company. Reidar has founded, and been 
involved in several clean tech start-ups, both 
operationally and financially.

Reidar holds an MSc from the Norwegian  
University of Science and Technology.

Holdings in Move About: 
Reidar holds 2,005,800 shares in Move About 
through Rebelijo Invest AS.

Board member since: February 2020

Independent to the company 
leadership: No

Independent to the largest 
shareholders: No

Bjørn E. A. Hviding
Board Member

Co-founder of Move About, investor and  
entrepreneur with previous top positions in 
DNVGL and Manpower as well as experience 
from growth companies in the IT-sector.

Bjørn has a degree in organizational science 
from the University of Bergen and has further 
education in executive additional training in 
Quality Management and People Leadership 
from DNV and INSEAD. In addition, Bjørn 
served as managing director Executive 
School at Norwegian School of Management 
(BI).

Holdings in Move About: 
Bjørn holds 751,300 shares in Move About 
through Capta Invest AS.

Board member since: December 2007

Independent to the company 
leadership: No

Independent to the largest 
shareholders: Yes
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FOR FURTHER INFORMATION:

Olof Jonasson 
ACTING GROUP CEO 

Phone: +46790683811, 
Mail; IR@moveaboutgroup.com

Move About Group  AB,  
Magasingatan 22, 
411 18 Göteborg, 
Org. no: 559311 - 9232, 

www.moveaboutgroup.com

Certified Adviser
Mangold Fondkommission AB is the company’s Certified Adviser and can be 
reached on telfon, 08-5030 1550, and via e-mail, ca@mangold.se.
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